Thesis for the degree of Philosaphiae Doctor

Tumor – microenvironment interactions in malignant melanoma

Impact on metastatic phenotype and drug resistance

Kotryna Seip

Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Department of Tumor Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, Oslo, Norway





© Kotryna Seip, 2017

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8333-397-8

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
ABBREVIATIONS	5
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	9
1. INTRODUCTION	11
1.1. Cancer	11
1.1.1. Metastasis	12
1.1.2. Cancer associated signaling	13
1.2. TME and its role in cancer progression and resistance	15
1.2.1. Tumor interactions with TME	16
1.2.2. Components of TME	18
1.2.2.1. Fibroblasts	18
1.2.2.2. Inflammatory cells: monocytes and macrophages	19
1.2.2.3. Endothelial cells	20
1.2.2.4. S100A4 – a TME factor	21
1.2.3. TME and drug resistance	22
1.3. Melanoma	23
1.3.1. Melanoma progression and interaction with the surrounding environment	24
1.3.2. Molecular phenotype and "phenotype switching" in metastatic melanoma	26
1.3.3. BRAF mutation	28
1.3.4. Melanoma treatment	28
1.3.5. Resistance towards BRAF inhibitors	
1.3.5.1. Acquired resistance	
1.3.5.2. Innate resistance	31
1.3.5.2.1. Genetic factors and phenotype	31
1.3.5.2.2. TME influence	33
1.3.6. Combinatorial treatment strategies to potentiate treatment efficacy	34
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	36
3. SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS	
4. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	41

4.1. Model systems	41
4.1.1. In vitro cultures	. 41
4.1.1.1. Cell lines	43
4.1.2. <i>In vivo</i> experimental models	. 44
4.2. Experimental tools	45
4.2.1. High-throughput (HT) techniques	. 45
4.2.2. Studies on cell signaling by measuring phosphoproteins	. 46
4.2.3. Multi-parameter intracellular flow cytometry	. 46
4.2.4. Immunofluorescence (IF)	47
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	48
5.1. Stroma-regulated phenotype switching – a reason for resistance and a target for therapy	48
5.1.1. Intrinsic properties: signaling pathways	. 50
5.1.2. Extrinsic properties: engagement of CAFs and immune cells	51
6. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	. 55
7. REFERENCES	. 57
ENCLOSED PUBLICATIONS I-III	73

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work presented in this thesis was performed at the department of Tumor Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, Oslo University Hospital from August 2013 to December 2016. The work was financed by the Research Council of Norway (No. 222262/F20) and the Norwegian Cancer Society.

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Lina Prasmickaitė for giving me this wonderful opportunity to do my Ph.D. under her supervision. I am grateful to Lina for sharing her knowledge and expertise and allowing me to find my way of exploring the scientific world. Furthermore, her support and encouragement throughout these years have been highly appreciated, especially in those hard times when I was losing a grip on myself as a good Ph.D. student. I have always believed that Lina and I worked as a well-established and symbiotic team, as YIN and YANG, where hard work, high standards and respect to each other led us to achieve a magnificent result. Lina was and is more than just a brilliant leader of my work; she is someone I would like to be alike one day if my scientific journey is going to carry on. Thousand times of thank you to Lina – for everything!

Secondly, a huge thank you goes to my first co-supervisor and the head of the department of tumor biology, prof. Gunhild M. Mælandsmo, for not only welcoming me to the group, but also for letting me be a part of it, where my words are actually taken into account. I am also grateful to my second co-supervisor, associate prof. Olav Engebråten, for sharing his knowledge during every Monday/Tuesday meeting throughout these years.

The collaboration with all my co-authors is greatly appreciated. In particular, I would like to thank Vigdis Nygaard for countless fruitful discussions, for exceptional attention to details and just for being a person who actually cares. Special thanks go to my project group girls, Ingrid J. Bettum and Anna Barkovskaya for being a part of my scientific world, where sometimes it is just much more questions than answers! Thanks to both Ingrid and Anna for their contribution to finding these answers in an entertaining, friendly girly-chatting way. In addition, I would like to thank Idun Dale Rein and Monica Bostad at the Flow Cytometry.

But work is not only work, so I would like to say thank you to my exceptional "office microenvironment" team with Tove, Menaka, Nirma, Karianne, Galina and Irina in front. You all painted my cloudy days with sunshine. You all are definitely the ones who had, and hopefully were very willing, to listen to all my work-unrelated and sometimes work-related stories. I am grateful to each of you, both together and separately, for all happiness and laughs we had during all these years, and I hope that you all had as much fun as I had. In addition, I would like to thank my dear colleagues Iwona, Anastassia and Robert for sharing love to our precious cells. We definitely ruled the cell lab!

But life is not only work, so I would like to thank my dearest friends Simona, Artūras and Vaiva for being the best of the best and cheering and supporting me in every step of my way. Special thanks go to my sister- and parents-in-law for being interested in my project/work and for caring about me. Importantly, my deepest gratitude goes to my mom, my sisters Marija and Monika and my grandma for believing in me no matter what. You are the best support team I have ever had.

Finally, I would like to say thousands of thanks to my beloved husband Knut Fredrik. Not only for proofreading my thesis, I do not even remember for how many times, but also for just being there for me despite my sometimes quite bad mood. I am thankful to everything Knut has ever done for me, including countless of dinners and home cleanings while I was working my crazy working hours. Most importantly, thanks to Knut for letting me be myself. I promise, from now on, there will be less, hopefully equal to zero, spending/sleeping over the night in the lab due to various deadlines (even if I sometimes created them myself).

I dedicate this thesis to my dad, without whom I would never dare to go as far as I managed now. Thank You DAD for this Degree.

Kotryna Seip

Mup

Oslo, November 2016

4

ABBREVIATIONS

- 2D Two-dimensional
- 3D Three dimensional
- AKT/PKB Protein kinase B
- BMDC Bone marrow-derived cell
- BRAF Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma protein kinase B
- CAF Cancer associated fibroblast
- CCL C-C motif ligand
- CCND1 Cyclin D1
- CCR C-C motif receptor
- CDK Cyclin-dependent kinase
- CDKN2 Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2
- CDSS Cancer drug sensitivity screening
- c-MET /MET/HGFR Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
- COL5A1 Collagen type V alpha 1
- COT/MAP3K8 Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8
- CTL4 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4
- CXCL C-X-C ligand
- DKK Dickkopf Wnt signaling pathway inhibitor
- DTIC Dacarbazine
- E-cadherin Epithelial cadherin
- ECM Extracellular matrix
- EMT Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
- ERK Extracellular regulated kinase
- FACS Fluorescence-activated cell sorting

- FAK Focal adhesion kinase
- FAP Fibroblast activation protein
- FDA Food and drug administration
- FN Fibronectin
- GFP Green fluorescence protein
- GJ Gap junction
- GSK3 Glycogen synthase kinase 3
- HGF Hepatocyte growth factor
- HT High-throughput
- i.v. Intravenously
- IF Immunofluorescence
- IKK I kappa B kinase
- IL Interleukin
- ILK -- Integrin-linked kinase
- JNK The c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinase
- L.V. Left ventricle
- LOX Lysyl oxidase
- LUC Luciferase
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MEK Mitogen-activated protein/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase
- MITF Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor
- MLANA Melan-A
- MMP Matrix metalloprotease
- mTOR the mechanistic/mammalian target of rapamycin
- mTORC the mechanistic/mammalian target of rapamycin complex
- N-cadherin Neural cadherin
- NF-κB Nuclear factor kappa B

- NK Natural killer
- NRAS Neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog
- PD-1 Programmed death-1
- PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor
- PDGFR Plateled-derived growth factor receptor
- PD-L1 Programmed death ligand-1
- PI3K Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
- pS6 Phosphorylated ribosomal protein S6
- PTEN Phosphatase and tensin homolog
- qPCR quantitative/real-time Polymerase chain reaction
- RAF Rapidly Accelerated Fibrosarcoma
- RAS Rat Sarcoma
- RPPA Reverse phase protein array
- RSK p90 Ribosomal S6 kinase
- RTK Receptor tyrosine kinase
- S6K p70 Ribosomal protein S6 kinase
- SA Serum amyloid
- SOX10 SRY-related HMG-box 10
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- SWI Simple Western immunoassay
- TAM Tumor associated macrophage
- TEC Tumor endothelial cell
- $TGF\beta$ Transforming growth factor beta
- THBS1 Thrombospondin 1
- TME Tumor microenvironment
- TNC Tenascin C
- TNF Tumor necrosis factor

TYR – Tyrosinase

UVR - Ultraviolet radiation

VEGF - Vascular endothelial growth factor

WB – Western immunoblot

Wnt-Wingless-related integration site

WNT5A – Wnt signaling Member 5A

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, included in the second part of the thesis. They will be reffered to in the text by their roman numerals **I-III**.

I. Metastasis-associated protein S100A4 induces a network of inflammatory cytokines that activate stromal cells to acquire pro-tumorigenic properties

Bettum IJ, <u>Vasiliauskaite K</u>, Nygaard V, Clancy T, Pettersen SJ, Tenstad E, Mælandsmo GM, Prasmickaite L.

Cancer Lett. 2014 Mar 1;344(1):28-39.

II. Fibroblast-induced switching to the mesenchymal-like phenotype and PI3K/mTOR signaling protects melanoma cells from BRAF inhibitors

<u>Seip K</u>, Fleten KG*, Barkovskaya A*, Nygaard V, Haugen MH, Engesæter BØ, Mælandsmo GM, Prasmickaite L.

*Contributed equally to the study

Oncotarget. 2016 Apr 12;7(15):19997-20015.

III. Targeting stroma-supported melanoma cells resistant to BRAF inhibitors

<u>Seip K</u>, Jørgensen K*, Haselager MV*, Albrecht M, Haugen MH, Egeland EV, Lucarelli P, Pettersen S, Engebraaten O, Sauter T, Mælandsmo GM, Prasmickaite L.

*Contributed equally to the study

Manuscript

PhD thesis Kotryna Seip

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Cancer

Cancer is a class of diseases characterized by abnormal cell growth and invasion to other parts of the body. Due to genomic alterations, highly proliferating cells form a mass of tissue called a tumor. Eventually, tumor cells start to interfere with normal cells, leading to disruption of body homeostasis [1]. Cancer can be classified as non-malignant (non-invasive), referred to as a benign tumor, and malignant (invasive), where the latter is responsible for most of the cancer-related mortalities [2].

Cancer is a leading cause of death worldwide. 8.2 million cancer-related deaths was reported globally in 2012 [3], and this number is constantly increasing. According to the latest estimation, new cancer cases will increase by 70% over the next two decades and will reach more than 23 million cases worldwide [3]. This expected increase might be associated with overall increased population life span, since cancer is most often diagnosed in older people [4]. In Norway, almost 32 000 new cases and 11 000 deaths (i.e. 25% of all deaths) were reported in 2014. Incidence of new cases of cancer in Norway increases each year [5]. These high numbers signify the urgent need for better diagnostic and treatment options to improve cancer prevention and care.

At the cellular level, cancer can be considered as an evolutionary process, where cancer cells, due to genetic and epigenetic alterations, and support from tumor microenvironment (TME), gain a survival advantage [6]. Properties providing this advantage are known as cancer hallmarks. Hanahan and Weinberg defined 8 hallmarks of cancer: self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory signals, evasion of programmed cell death (apoptosis), limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, de-regulation of cellular energetics, avoidance of immune destruction and tissue invasion and metastasis [7, 8]. In addition, tumor-promoting inflammation and genome instability are proposed to be enabling characteristics that make it possible for the cells to acquire cancer hallmarks [8].

1.1.1. Metastasis

Metastasis (from Greek meaning "displacement") is a multi-step process, where cancer cells spread from the place of origin (a primary tumor) to distant locations in the body. There are two fundamental models of metastasis. The linear-progression model describes metastasis as a late event in tumor development, where primary tumor cells migrate to other organs only after they accumulate genetic alterations necessary for the metastatic dissemination [9]. The parallel-progression model argues that tumor cells disseminate relatively early, and that metastases develop in parallel to and independently from the primary tumor [10]. Regardless of the model, the metastatic cascade includes the same steps specified in Figure 1. Lately, it was acknowledged that, in addition to the metastatic properties of tumor cells themselves, host-derived microenvironment factors participate actively in the establishment of metastases (discussed later in chapter 1.2). Even though cell motility and dissemination are relatively efficient processes, where millions of cancer cells per gram of tumor can enter the circulation daily, only 0.01% of all circulating cells will be able to survive and successfully overcome all the steps along the metastatic cascade, leading to macrometastases [11].



Figure 1. Development of metastases. Tumor cells (1) either proliferate and establish a primary tumor (2), followed by a metastatic cascade (the linear-progression model), or develop metastases in parallel with the development of a primary tumor (the parallel-progression model). The metastatic cascade involve the following steps: tumor cell invasion (3), intravasation into circulation (4), survival in the circulation, arrest at distant site, extravasation into distant organs (5), and initiation of growth by forming micrometastases and eventually macrometastases (6).

In recent years, metastasis has been linked to the trans-differentiation process called epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT). EMT is essential during development and is a reflection of phenotypic plasticity, i.e. the capacity of one genotype to change its phenotype in response to signals from the microenvironment [12]. During EMT, epithelial cells lose epithelial properties (cell – cell contacts, polarity) and gain mesenchymal features (reorganization of cytoskeleton and elongated mesenchymal morphology). Thus, cells become more motile. A number of alterations in gene expression and cell signaling are involved in EMT. Epithelial (E)-cadherin/neural (N)-cadherin switch and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) signaling are among the most described (reviewed in [13]).

1.1.2. Cancer associated signaling

Hallmarks of cancer, as well as changes within the TME, affect signaling in tumor cells. In the following section, signaling pathways explored in this thesis, such as the mitogenactivated protein kinase (**MAPK**), Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (**PI3K**) – protein kinase B (PKB, also known as **AKT**), the mechanistic (previously known as mammalian) target of rapamycin (**mTOR**) and Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (**GSK3**), will be briefly introduced.

The MAPK and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways are often dysregulated in human cancers. Their activation is known to enhance cellular proliferation and survival and induce EMT (reviewed in [14]). The MAPK and PI3K/AKT pathways can be activated via both receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and integrins [14]. Further signal transduction occurs through multiple intracellular effectors (specified in Figure 2) leading into the nucleus, where regulation of target gene transcription takes place.

The mTOR kinase interacts with several proteins to form two distinct complexes, named mTOR complex (mTORC) 1 and 2, which play different roles in cell biology. mTORC1, which has been explored in this thesis, is typically activated by the PI3K/AKT signaling axis [15], but MAPK-dependent activation has also been observed [16]. The mTORC1 regulates phosphorylation of p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K), which further activates protein S6.

Phosphorylated S6 (pS6) participates in protein translation initiation, ribosome biogenesis and other cell growth-related events.

GSK3 is an important signaling mediator implicated in different signaling pathways, including PI3K-AKT and wingless-related integration site (Wnt)/ β -catenin, a complex developmental pathway also involved in tumorigenesis (reviewed in [17]). The major role of GSK3 in Wnt signaling is the regulation of β -catenin. In the absence of active Wnt, GSK3 is active and phosphorylates β -catenin, targeting it for degradation. When Wnt is activated, GSK3 activity is suppressed and β -catenin is stabilized so it can enter the nucleus, where it interacts with transcriptional regulators [18]. GSK3 can also be inactivated by AKT, which contributes to the stabilization of β -catenin [19]. In general, suppression of GSK3 was also shown to activate mTORC1 [20].



Figure 2. Cancer associated signaling pathways. Proteins involved in MAPK, PI3K/AKT/mTOR and GSK3mediated Wnt/ β -catenin signaling are colored in green, blue and orange, respectively. The MAPK pathway is triggered by extracellular signals, which leads to the activation of small GTPase-rat sarcoma (RAS). Activated RAS binds to rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma (RAF) kinase, inducing a conformational change, which results in RAF activation and dimerization. Activated RAF then initiates a phosphorylation cascade from one kinase, mitogen-activated protein/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase (MEK), to another, extracellular regulated kinase (ERK). Under normal conditions, the PI3K/AKT pathway is suppressed by phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). However, due to its mutation/deletion (in addition to several other accompanying factors), PI3K/AKT signaling is activated in many cancers, leading further to mTOR signaling stimulation and subsequent phosphorylation of S6 kinase and S6 protein. In addition, mTOR can be activated by MAPK signaling through p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK) protein. Activated Wnt ligand binding to the Wnt receptor inactivates GSK3, which cannot phosphorylate (and prime for degradation) β -catenin and block activation of mTOR. Finally, activated ERK, S6 and β -catenin can be translocated into the nucleus where they interact with other partners and/or transcription factors that stimulate expression of various cancer-related genes.

1.2. TME and its role in cancer progression and resistance

Until rather recently, it has been assumed that cancer is a cell-autonomous event, where only intrinsic characteristics of malignant cells play a role in tumor development and metastasis. However, now it has been acknowledged that non-malignant cells and extracellular architecture, i.e. stroma, can contribute to both primary tumor growth and metastatic colonization of distant organs [21]. Generally, the idea about the role of TME in cancer is not new. It is more than 100 years since Stephen Paget introduced the "seed and soil" hypothesis [22]. Paget suggested that a metastatic cell, "a seed", is only capable to grow at secondary sites with a permissive microenvironment, "soil". This hypothesis was based on clinical observations that different tumors have a tendency to establish metastasis at certain organs, i.e. show preferences for specific sites. In the case of e.g. breast cancer, the metastases are frequently established in lung, liver or bone, while prostate cancer often disseminates to the bone [23, 24]. The skin cancer, such as melanoma, however, can establish metastasis in many different organs (e.g. lymph node, lung, brain, liver, skin), showing less preference to a certain site [25].

The biological mechanisms responsible for how TME factors facilitate metastatic growth at distant sites are not yet fully understood. Recent studies have introduced the concepts of premetastatic and metastatic niches. The niches denote tumor-friendly microenvironmental conditions, generated at distant sites, before or after the arrival of metastatic cells, respectively. It has been shown that the primary tumor can secrete factors, e.g. exosomes, that can act over a long distance and initiate the formation of the pre-metastatic niche [26]. In addition, the disseminated cells settled at distant sites can change their local microenvironment, forming the metastatic niche [27, 28]. The function of both pre-metastatic and metastatic niches is to help incoming tumor cells to survive and grow at foreign sites [27]. Niche formation of extracellular matrix (ECM) and recruitment/activation of stromal cells, such as bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs) or fibroblasts, that all together create an inflammatory milieu, beneficial for homing and growth of the metastasizing cells [29, 30]. In the following sections, components of the TME addressed in this thesis will be discussed, revealing how they interact with the tumor.

1.2.1. Tumor interactions with TME

A TME consists of various stromal cells (such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells and BMDCs, including monocytes, macrophages and other immune cells), ECM, a variety of secreted soluble factors (like chemokines, cytokines and growth factors) and microvesicles called exosomes [31-33]. All these components together constitute a complex system accompanying the tumor. As the tumor progresses, its microenvironment also changes, forming a permissive environment that helps tumor cells to survive, grow and invade, i.e. to become more aggressive [34]. These changes within the microenvironment are usually initiated by the tumor. Recent years of investigation have shed more light on how tumor – stromal cell cross-talk can be executed. Cells can communicate with each other by means of direct cell – cell contact or via secretion of soluble factors and exosomes. In addition, the communication can involve deposition of ECM that affects the behavior of ECM-binding cells [35-37].

Among the mechanisms enabling direct cell – cell communication are intercellular channels called gap junctions (GJs), which are composed of six connexin molecules. When connexins from neighboring cells merge, one complete GJ channel is formed. GJs enable transport of ions, short interfering RNAs, nucleic and amino acids or metabolites between two connected cells (reviewed in [38]). The appearance and permeability of these channels can change depending on cell needs and microenvironment signaling [39]. Down-regulation of connexins is associated with enhanced migratory and invasive capacities of tumor cells [40]. On the other hand, tumor cells exploit connexins to establish GJs with stromal cells to facilitate tumor development and survival [41, 42]. GJ-based communication was reported to be especially important for tumor establishment in the brain microenvironment, where tumor cells connect to astrocytes via GJs [43-45].

Another important mechanism of cell – cell communication involves integrins, which also mediate cell – ECM interactions [46]. Integrins are transmembrane cell adhesion receptors that bind counter-receptors on adjacent cells or various ECM molecules, e.g. fibronectin (FN)

or collagen. Integrins can mediate bi-directional signaling: "inside-out" or "outside-in" [47]. The "inside-out" signaling is initiated by intracellular events (e.g. reorganization of cytoskeleton), which modulates integrins' affinity for its ligand. The "outside-in" signaling is triggered by extracellular changes (e.g. within ECM), leading to integrin-ligand binding with subsequent activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and integrin-linked kinase (ILK) [48]. As a consequence, downstream signaling pathways are activated, which regulates various cell functions, such as proliferation, survival, polarity, motility or differentiation (reviewed in [49]). Integrins, depending on microenvironment stimuli, can switch "on" and "off", where only the first state can bind the ligands [49]. Thus, integrins function as an important bridge between intracellular and extracellular protein networks and thereby tune cellular responses to microenvironment cues.

While integrins and GJs mediate interactions between adjacent entities, released small soluble molecules and exosomes can also mediate long-distance communication. Both tumor and stromal cells release a variety of cytokines and growth factors that can act in an autocrine and paracrine manner by binding to their respective receptors. This leads to activation of downstream signaling pathways affecting cell survival, growth, motility and further production of soluble factors or ECM. For example, it has been shown that through secretion of soluble factors or exosomes, tumor cells can recruit and educate BMDCs [37, 50, 51]. These BMDCs can further secrete factors that affect other stromal cells, e.g. endothelial cells [37]. Such a cascade of multi-cellular interactions is beneficial for the tumor, since it can enhance vascular permeability, facilitating extravasation [50, 52], or create a milieu stimulating drug resistance [37]. Cellular responses to soluble factors can depend on the cell's adhesion to substrate [49], indicating that crosstalk via secreted soluble factors and direct cell – cell /ECM interactions might be tightly interconnected.

Tumor – stroma communication via ECM is another important mechanism utilized by the developing tumor. Changes within the ECM can remodulate the composition/stiffness of the ECM [53], which can be sensed by tumor cells through e.g. integrin signaling. Rigidities of the ECM maintain a directional cell movement, preferentially towards a stiffer environment [53, 54]. A recent study by Oudin et al. [55] demonstrates that tumor cells move towards a higher gradient of FN, which is typically found at the tumor border [56] and near blood

vessels [56, 57]. Modification of ECM is also observed at sites of pre-metastatic niches and metastasis [26, 27, 58, 59]. For example, it has been shown that FN is involved in pre-metastatic niche formation, where it facilitates recruitment of BMDCs and stimulates metastasis initiation [26]. Tenascin C (TNC), another factor of ECM, was shown to be produced by disseminating tumor cells in order to facilitate metastasis initiation. At later stages, stroma takes over as a source of TNC, further stimulating metastatic growth [58].

1.2.2. Components of TME

1.2.2.1. Fibroblasts

Fibroblasts are the most abundant cell type in connective tissue. One of their main functions is to synthesize the proteins of ECM. Thus, fibroblasts are a rich source of FN, collagen and TNC, and they also secrete a variety of growth factors and chemokines [60].

During tumor progression, fibroblasts are reprogrammed into cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs). However, there is no consensus about the origin of CAFs. It has been suggested that CAFs can derive: i) from normal fibroblasts via mesenchymal – mesenchymal transition [61], which can be triggered by a variety of tumor-derived soluble factors, ii) through endothelial to mesenchymal transition [62] or iii) from the malignant epithelial cells themselves [63]. There is an agreement, though, concerning the importance of CAFs in tumor progression. CAFs are mainly localized in the tumor invasion front [33], where they secrete ECM components, matrix-remodeling enzymes and soluble factors, promoting tumor growth and invasion [64, 65]. It has been suggested that CAFs can take the leading role in tumor cell migration, where the tumor cells just follow fibroblasts-generated tracks [66, 67]. Due to production of soluble factors, CAFs also participate in recruitment of other stromal cells, such as macrophages and endothelial cells, to support tumor development [68].

1.2.2.2. Inflammatory cells: monocytes and macrophages

BMDCs, such as monocytes and macrophages, are important components of the innate immune system. They are critical during inflammation, where they are responsible for immediate short-lasting defense against infections or injury [69]. The inflammatory response is characterized by rapid accumulation of macrophages at sites of damage and production of pro-inflammatory soluble factors, with the goal to protect the organism and initiate healing. Thus, the acute inflammatory response is normally localized and has a protective function. However, if inflammation becomes chronic, it increases cancer risk. Inflammation and inflammatory cells are increasingly recognized as an essential component of tumor development. While in the beginning of tumor development inflammatory cells can challenge tumor progression [70], established tumors find a way to exploit them for their own need and enhance tumor-promoting chronic inflammation [71].

Macrophages are among the most abundant immune cells found in the TME and are commonly termed tumor associated macrophages (TAM) [72]. In many cancers, elevated numbers of TAMs are associated with a high-grade and poor prognosis [73]. It is thought that TAMs derive from tumor recruited monocytes rather than a transformation of local macrophages [74]. Due to high plasticity of macrophages, they can alter their polarization state between the classically activated pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype and the alternatively activated M2 phenotype with anti-inflammatory function [75]. In contrast to normal proinflammatory macrophages that display the M1 phenotype, TAMs are mainly of the M2 phenotype and are shown to actively promote tumor progression [76]. Due to various tumor and stromal cell-derived soluble factors (e.g. interleukins- (IL) 4 and 10, and chemokines C-C motif ligand (CCL) 2 and C-X-C ligand (CXCL) 12 [77-79]), TAMs accumulate in the TME. Here TAMs exhibit a lower activity of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) signaling [80, 81], which normally plays an important role in regulating the immune response. Instead, TAMs increase TGF β /PI3K γ /AKT signaling, which suppress the cells' pro-inflammatory phenotype and T-cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity [82, 83]. It was also reported that TAMs can further recruit other myeloid cells, thereby establishing a cascade of chronic inflammation in the TME [79]. There is no consensus regarding markers of the M1/M2 phenotypes. However, M2 is often linked to increased expression of arginase 1, IL-10 and TGFB as well as elevated

levels of the surface molecules CD206 and CD163. The M1 phenotype is often characterized by high levels of inducible nitric oxide synthase, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and IL-12 [84].

TAMs are found in both the periphery and inside of a tumor mass. In the periphery, TAMs are reported to contribute to tumor cell invasiveness, by modulating ECM through secretion of matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), and angiogenesis, by releasing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) A, IL-8 and TGF β [85]. Inside the tumor mass, TAMs mainly induce the growth of new blood vessels [86]. There are also reports indicating that monocytes/macrophages play a role in initiation of metastases, where inflammatory monocytes are among the first to be recruited to facilitate extravasation [30]. This recruitment is initiated through the CCL2-C-C motif receptor (CCR) 2 axis, where both tumor and stromal cells secrete CCL2, which attracts CCR2-positive monocytes to the metastatic site [50].

1.2.2.3. Endothelial cells

Endothelial cells are one of the main construction blocks of blood vessels that take part in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, i.e. new vascular network formation *de novo* and from already existing vessels, respectively [87]. Angiogenesis plays an important role in tumor progression, facilitating supply of nutrition and oxygen.

In contrast to normal endothelial cells, tumor endothelial cells (TECs) are shown to possess altered gene expression [88], where genes associated with cell proliferation, migration and tube formation are highly up-regulated [89-91]. These characteristics facilitate TECs response to pro-angiogenic growth factors, such as VEGF, epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor [89, 92]. In addition, TECs undergo morphological changes, which negatively affect blood vessels' integrity by diminishing tight cell – cell interconnections [93]. As a consequence, new blood vessels become leaky, leading to inflammation [94] and facilitating intravasation/extravasation [95].

Although angiogenesis is the best characterized tumor-promoting phenomenon involving endothelial cells, it appears that the endothelial cells/vascular environment can also regulate tumor cell dormancy and outgrowth [96]. It has been shown that a stable microvasculature

produce thrombospondin 1 (THBS1), which keeps tumor cells dormant. However, unstable, sprouting neovasculature produce the ECM factor periostin and release TGF β 1 that sparks metastatic growth [96]. Furthermore, it has been observed that e.g. brain metastases, particularly in melanoma, are often initiated in close proximity to the existing blood vessels, a phenomenon known as vascular co-option [97, 98]. These observations indicate that endothelial cells/vascular niches create a friendly milieu for the tumor.

1.2.2.4. S100A4 - a TME factor

In humans, the S100 protein family contains more than 20 members. These are small, Cabinding, multifunctional proteins acting intracellularly or as extracellular factors. They regulate various cellular processes and appear to be implicated in different pathological conditions. Elevated expression of several members of this family is a common feature of many cancer types and is found to be associated with metastasis. The level of S100 proteins is also elevated in inflammatory disorders, indicating their involvement in the inflammation process (reviewed in [99]). These observations fostered the idea that the pro-metastatic role of S100 proteins might be executed through its pro-inflammatory functions. S100A8/A9 are examples of two family members with a well-established role in inflammation. In metastasis, S100A8/A9 were found to be secreted by tumor cells creating a local inflammatory environment and recruiting BMDCs, thereby forming a (pre)metastatic niche [100]. It has also been revealed that BMDC-produced S100A8/A9 can mediate chemoresistance [37], indicating that S100 proteins might also influence efficacy of therapy.

Another member of the family, S100A4 (also known as metastasin or fibroblast-specific protein 1), is also associated with cancer as well as inflammatory disorders (reviewed in [101, 102]). Elevated levels of S100A4 was found in many cancers [103, 104], where the protein was detected in tumor cells, various stromal cells, and extracellular space [103, 105]. The latter defines the protein as a TME factor, and it has been explored as such in the current thesis.

It is generally accepted that S100A4 up-regulation is associated with metastatic disease (reviewed in [101]). Exactly how S100A4 promotes metastasis is not clear, although several

mechanisms of pro-metastatic activity of intracellular and extracellular S100A4 have been suggested. It has been demonstrated that S100A4 can stimulate cancer cell migration and invasion by direct S100A4 and myosin-IIA interactions [106] or S100A4-induced MMPs secretion [107]. It has also been shown that S100A4 can induce EMT, promoting a mesenchymal, more-motile phenotype in cancer cells [108]. Lately, the ability of extracellular S100A4 to act on stromal cells and participate in tumor – stroma interactions has been addressed. This revealed a pro-angiogenic activity, where extracellular S100A4 activated endothelial cells, forcing them to form capillary-like structures and invade the matrix [109]. The ability of S100A4 to recruit inflammatory cells (monocytes/macrophages) has also been reported [110], although not explored further with respect to metastasis. Finally, a recent study by Hansen et al. [111] demonstrates a link between extracellular S100A4 and inflammatory soluble factors, acute phase serum amyloid (SA) A1/A3 and S100A8/A9, which mediated the pro-invasive, pro-metastatic effects of S100A4. This data strengthens the notion that the pro-metastatic function of S100A4 might be related to its pro-inflammatory activity.

1.2.3. TME and drug resistance

The last decade of investigations has revealed TME as an important player in promoting resistance to cancer therapy. Various stromal cells, such as macrophages [112], fibroblast [113], endothelial cells [114] and astrocytes [43], were shown to be able to protect cancer cells from therapy. This ability could be mediated by: i) stromal cell-secreted soluble factors, like IL-6 [115], CXCL12 [116] or hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [117, 118], ii) cell attachment to the ECM, stimulating e.g. integrin signaling [119], or iii) via direct cell – cell communication through GJs [43, 44]. Besides this, TME can stimulate tumor cells to undergo EMT [120-122], and the mesenchymal state generally shows lower sensitivity towards treatment [123]. Since most of the anti-cancer treatments target highly proliferative cells, invading tumor cells with lower proliferative abilities are capable of escaping from treatment [124]. Overall, disclosure of microenvironmental factors involved in drug resistance could offer novel means for therapy. In addition to all above-mentioned factors that could be explored as targets, TAM elimination has also been suggested as an alternative option [125].

So far, immune checkpoint inhibitors, leading to enhanced T cell activity towards suppressed tumor immunity, is the best example of successfully implemented TME targeting in clinics.

1.3. Melanoma

Melanoma is a cancer type derived from melanocytes, i.e. cell producing the melanin pigment, found predominantly in the skin and eyes. Malignant melanoma is one of the most aggressive, drug-resistant human cancers, which can easily adapt to the microenvironment at different anatomic sites. This might explain their high tendency to establish metastases in multiple organs [126].

Even though melanoma is not the most common cancer type, its ability to metastasize places it among the most deadly of human cancers [127]. Early primary melanoma, with thickness below 1mm (Breslow's thickness), is usually highly curable by surgery, but once the disease disseminates, it is usually fatal. Patients who progress to metastatic melanoma have a median survival of ≤ 1 year, and the 5 years survival rate is lower than 10% [128]. Melanoma incidence has increased rapidly during recent decades among Caucasian populations worldwide [129], and new estimates suggest a doubling of this rate every 10 to 20 years [130]. In Norway, 2 thousand cases and 322 deaths related to melanoma were reported in 2014 [5].

There are several risk factors contributing to melanoma development. One of them is ultraviolet radiation (UVR) (both from the sun and tanning beds) [131-133]. Other risk factors include family history of melanoma [134], multiple benign or atypical nevi [135] and previous melanoma [136]. Furthermore, immunosuppression (both drug [132] and age related [137]) and fair skin/red hair [138] is associated with a higher melanoma incidence. Even though some of the risk factors are unavoidable, exposure to UVR can be strictly controlled. UVR causes genetic changes in the skin, impairs immune function, increases the local production of growth factor and induces the formation of DNA-damaging reactive oxygen species that affect skin cells, melanocytes and keratinocytes (reviewed in [139]). In the skin, melanocytes reside in the basal layer of epidermis, where their function is firmly controlled by

keratinocytes [140, 141] (Figure 3). During skin exposure to UVR, damaged DNA of keratinocytes stimulates melanocytes to produce melanin, which is packed in melanosomes and transported to keratinocytes where it protects from UVRgenerated free radicals, causing the appearance of tanning [133]. Paradoxically, melanocytes can also be injured and transformed by UVR. Oxidative stress can disrupt the homeostasis of melanocytes, compromising their



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the cellular organization in the epidermis. The epidermal structure includes keratinocytes and melanin-producing melanocytes. The transportation of melanosomes to neighboring keratinocytes is allowed by the cellular extension of the melanocytes. The transferred melanin forms a shield against UVR.

survival or leading to malignant transformation [142]. Even though most melanomas still produce melanin, some damaged melanocytes lose this ability, resulting in a colorless appearance, which makes early diagnosis more challenging [143].

1.3.1. Melanoma progression and interaction with the surrounding environment

The classical melanoma progression model emphasizes a stepwise transformation of normal melanocytes to malignant melanoma through several intermediate stages [139, 144] (Figure 4). The first two stages represent out of control growth of melanocytes, where benign nevi is composed of structurally normal melanocytes, while dysplastic nevi starts to gain properties of structural atypia. During a radial growth phase, non-malignant primary melanomas starts to invade intraepidermally, however, they still do not show metastatic properties. If the melanoma is detected at this stage, it can still be completely removed surgically. When the melanoma loses the expression of E-cadherin and gains the expression of N-cadherin, the progression through a vertical-growth stage occurs, and from this point, the

disease is not only capable to invade dermis, but also to establish multiple metastases at distant organs, where the final stage of melanoma progression takes place.



Figure 4. The traditional Clark model of melanoma progression. Due to local proliferation of melanocytes, a benign nevus appears, followed by a dysplastic nevus stage with characteristics of abnormal size, color, surface and border. The radial-growth phase is associated with cell migration to the nearby epidermis. When tumor cells undergo loss of connections with surrounding keratinocytes and establish new contacts with the stromal cells localized in the dermis, the vertical-growth phase is initiated. This progression stage is associated with increased integrin expression, leading to induced expression of MMP-2, an enzyme that degrades the collagen in the basement membrane. In addition, integrin signaling stimulates the motility of melanoma cells through reorganization of the melanoma cytoskeleton, leading to the formation of metastasis.

Cadherins are transmembrane proteins involved in Ca^{2+} -dependent cell – cell adhesion. Through E-cadherins, keratinocytes control melanocytes' growth and phenotypic state [145, 146]. When E-cadherin expression is suppressed, the melanocyte-keratinocyte connection is lost, enabling cells to move [147, 148]. The basement membrane, a layer separating epidermis and dermis, is then degraded. This happens when tumor cells, via surface adhesion molecules (integrins or cell surface proteoglycans), interact with collagen IV [149], a component in the basement membrane. As a result, MMPs are released [149]. Dermis-infiltrated tumor cells further establish new interactions with collagen I [150]. Tumor cell obtained expression of N-cadherins conveys new adhesive properties, allowing them to interact with N-cadherin expressing stromal cells, such as fibroblast and endothelial cells [151, 152]. In addition, the tumor cells also utilize other adhesion molecules, such as integrins and GJs, to connect to stromal cells (reviewed in [153]). The established interactions increase the expression of prosurvival genes and stimulates the motility of melanoma cells [139]. Dermal invasion and later stages of metastasis are associated with increased production of various soluble factors, such as IL-6/8, CCL1/2, TGF β , platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), VEGF and others [154-157]. These factors modulate the melanoma microenvironment, which further contributes to tumor vascularization and growth as well as facilitates migration/invasion of both melanoma and stromal cells. Under these conditions, melanoma cells successfully survive outside their original environment and are able to establish metastasis.

1.3.2. Molecular phenotype and "phenotype switching" in metastatic melanoma

In 2006, Hoek et al. reported that melanoma is more than just a consequence of various mutations in the genome and that the ability of melanoma to progress is depending on its phenotype plasticity [158]. Melanomas can display distinct molecular phenotypes with characteristic gene expression signatures, which can switch back-and-forth as metastasis progress [159].

By gene expression profiling of 86 melanoma cell lines, Hoek et al. [158] identified two main groups of cells, distinctive in their transcriptional signatures. One group demonstrated a high proliferative rate and a weak invasive capacity, while the other group exhibited opposite features, with strong invasive capacity and low ability to proliferate. The molecular signatures of the two groups are further referred to as the proliferative and invasive phenotype, respectively [158]. The proliferative phenotype is driven by Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, leading to increased expression of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF) (a master regulator for melanocytic differentiation) and its target genes, such as SRY-related HMG-box 10 (SOX10), melan-A (MLANA) and tyrosinase (TYR). The invasive phenotype, however, shows down-regulation of the above-mentioned genes and up-regulation of TGF β signalingdriven Wnt inhibitors (like Wnt family member 5A (WNT5A), Dickkopf Wnt signaling pathway inhibitor (DKK) 1 and 3) and genes involved in modulation of ECM, including lysyl oxidase (LOX), collagen type V alpha 1 (COL5A1) and THBS1 [158] (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Schematic illustration of melanoma phenotype-associated signaling. Proliferative and invasive phenotypes are driven by Wnt and TGF β signaling, respectively. See the text for further details. Solid and dashed lines represent activation or de-activation of the signaling, respectively. Green and red arrows indicate increased or decreased gene expression, respectively.

The notion that melanoma can switch between phenotypic states was validated in models *in vivo*. Following subcutaneous injection into mice, melanoma cells of each phenotype could initiate tumor growth. The formed tumors consisted of cells of both phenotypes regardless of the phenotype of the cells of origin [159]. Furthermore, intravital imaging of melanoma cells *in vivo* revealed transient changes in the phenotype, i.e. pigment production and expression of MITF-related genes. The non-motile cells in the primary tumors and metastases were highly pigmented and displayed a MITF-driven signature. In contrast, the motile cells and disseminating cells in the blood stream were amelanotic, with a suppressed MITF signature [160]. From our own research, we observed phenotype dynamics during development of brain metastases *in vivo* [161]. While the invasive MITF^{low} phenotype was dominant in the early-phase lesions, the late/lethal metastases were enriched with proliferative MITF^{high} phenotype cells. We suggested that a conversion to the invasive phenotype might be necessary to adapt to the foreign microenvironment and to initiate metastatic growth. Further tumor expansion, though, might benefit from the proliferative state.

What triggers the phenotype switching is not completely established, but TME factors seem to be involved [162]. For example, it has been observed that hypoxia [163] and inflammation [161, 164] are able to control melanoma cell de-differentiation and phenotype transition.

1.3.3. BRAF mutation

Melanomas harbor elevated amounts of somatic mutations compared to many other solid tumors [165, 166], and the majority of them are associated with UVR-induced cytidine to thymidine transitions [167]. The most commonly mutated genes in melanoma, rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma protein kinase B (BRAF) and neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog (NRAS) (with mutation frequencies of 52 and 28%, respectively [168]), however, do not harbor this transition [167] and appear due to UVR-induced oxidative stress [169].

The most abundant BRAF gene mutation, accounting for more than 80%, is the substitution of valine to glutamic acid at position 600 (denoted as V600E). Other substitutions at residue 600, V600K and V600D, are less common and account for 16% and 3% of all BRAF mutations, respectively. BRAF^{V600E} does not require RAS-depended BRAF dimerization and acts as a monomer instead. This can result in a 500-fold over-activation of the BRAF kinase, which is a member of the MAPK signaling cascade [170], and leads to constant activation of the downstream components of the pathway, including MEK and ERK [171, 172]. Normally, the constitutive activation of BRAF induces senescence in melanocytes, preventing their progression to malignancy. Thus, additional genetic alterations should take place in order to overcome this and drive cancer progression [173-175].

1.3.4. Melanoma treatment

Due to high therapeutic resistance of metastatic melanoma, treatment possibilities have been limited. In mid-1970s, the first drug, dacarbazine (DTIC), was introduced to the clinics, but the overall response rate to the drug was low (7%- 35%) [176] and no complete or long-lasting remission has been achieved [177]. A new era of treatment for advanced melanoma

patients began when targeted therapy against mutated BRAF was introduced. The first food and drug administration (FDA) approved BRAF inhibitor, vemurafenib (also known as zelboraf or PLX4032), was initially evaluated by Flaherty et al. [178] in a Phase I clinical trial. The results revealed an 80% response rate among patients with BRAF^{V600E} mutation, and at that time, this was the highest response rate ever recorded for melanoma drug treatment [178]. To compare the efficacy of vemurafenib *versus* DTIC, a Phase III clinical trial, randomizing 675 patients with previously untreated metastatic melanoma with BRAF^{V600E} mutation, was initiated. At 6 months, the overall survival and response rates were 84% and 48% in the vemurafenib group, compared to 64% and 5% in the DTIC group, respectively [179].

Vemurafenib is designed to target BRAF^{V600E} and shows a 10-fold increased potency over the wild-type kinase [180]. In addition to BRAF^{V600E}, the drug also targets the less common BRAF^{V600K} mutation [181]. Vemurafenib selectively binds BRAF monomers and inhibits their activity, thereby preventing phosphorylation of MEK and ERK, i.e. inhibiting the activation of the MAPK pathway. However, if vemurafenib is used on BRAF wild-type tumors, it binds to one of the RAF monomers, leading to the trans-activation of the second, inhibitor-free RAF monomer, promoting elevated MAPK signaling and enhanced tumor growth [182].

Even though vemurafenib is one of the most efficient drugs available for melanoma patients carrying the BRAF^{V600E} mutation, its effect is short lived. Almost all melanoma patients develop resistance towards the drug within 6-12 months after treatment initiation [181]. Also other BRAF inhibitors, like dabrafenib, demonstrates a good initial response, however, resistance emerges soon after [183]. To improve treatment responses, focus has shifted towards understanding the mechanisms behind resistance to BRAF inhibition [184].

Malignant melanomas are highly immunogenic, which makes them perfectly suited for immunotherapy aiming to activate the person's immune system to fight against cancer cells [185]. The anti-cancer activity of T-cells can be hampered by immune checkpoint molecules, such as cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTL4), and programmed death-1/programmed death ligand-1 (PD-1/PD-L1). Tumor cells, as well as tumor infiltrating macrophages or fibroblasts, often over-express PD-L1, which helps evading the immune system [186-188]. These observations give a rationale for using immune checkpoint inhibitors as a way to

potentiate immune response against cancer. Today, immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors, such as anti-CTL4 and anti-PD-1, are at the frontline of melanoma treatment. In comparison to BRAF inhibitors, checkpoint inhibitors show lower early response and higher toxicity, but they can induce durable responses [189]. Currently, there are several immune checkpoint inhibitors approved by FDA (e.g. ipilimumab targeting CTL4, and nivolumab and pembrolizumab targeting PD-1), and many more are in clinical development.

1.3.5. Resistance towards BRAF inhibitors

Resistance to BRAF inhibitors can be classified into innate and acquired. Briefly, innate resistance is a natural property of a cell not to respond to the treatment, but only a small fraction of BRAF mutated melanomas demonstrates such resistance. The most common is acquired resistance, which develops as a consequence of drug treatment.

1.3.5.1. Acquired resistance

Acquired resistance usually involves reactivation of the MAPK signaling pathway [190] or activation of alternative signaling cascades, often PI3K/AKT [191] (Figure 6). With respect to MAPK reactivation, no secondary mutation in BRAF^{V600E/K} was found [192, 193]. However, alternative splicing of BRAF^{V600E} [194] and copy number amplification [195] were identified. Due to alternative splicing, dimerization of BRAF occurs, resulting in strong activation of MEK and ERK, even in the presence of a BRAF inhibitor [194]. Over-expression of BRAF was shown to be sufficient to activate ERK in the



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of the mechanisms behind acquired resistance. See the text for further detailes. Green arrows represent increased expression of the protein, while star indicates additional acquired changes within the protein. BRAFi – BRAF inhibitor.

presence of BRAF inhibition in 20% of cases [195]. Up-regulation of NRAS [196] and amplification of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8 (COT/MAP3K8) [197] were also reported to reactivate the MAPK pathway, leading to acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors.

RTKs were often shown to be up-regulated and activated in BRAF inhibitor treated melanoma patients. Generally, RTK can initiate signaling cascade through both the MAPK cascade and alternative pathway(s) like PI3K/AKT. Villanueva and colleagues reported that both MAPK reactivation through ARAF and CRAF, as well as an enhanced insulin like growth factor 1 receptor/PI3K signaling cascade, are involved in acquired resistance [193]. Another mechanism implicates up-regulation of the PDGF receptor (PDGFR) β , which leads to activation of PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling [196, 198].

1.3.5.2. Innate resistance

1.3.5.2.1. Genetic factors and phenotype

Innate resistance to BRAF inhibition has been linked to mutations in a number of genes, such as cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A), cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK)-4, cyclin D1 (CCND1), PTEN and AKT3. Although, it should be noted that these genetic defects can also contribute to acquired resistance [191].

Under normal physiological conditions, MAPK signaling drives the cell cycle by increasing the expression of CCND1, which then binds to CDK4 and CDK6 and initiate progression through the cell cycle (Figure 7A). Inhibition of BRAF aims to stop this process and arrest cell proliferation. However, alterations in genes regulating the cell cycle can lead to resistance to BRAF inhibition. About 17% of BRAF mutated melanomas have an amplification of CCND1, which alone, or together with mutated CDK4, can contribute to initiation of the cell cycle and thus resistance [199]. Another common genetic lesion in melanoma is the deletion/mutation in CDKN2A, which encodes p16^{INK4}, an inhibitor of CDK4. This genetic defect, as well as mutations in CDK4, which abolish its interaction with p16^{INK4}, keeps CDK4 active and thereby reduce the effect of BRAF inhibition [200, 201] (Figure 7B).

A tumor suppressor PTEN, which negatively regulates PI3K/AKT signaling, is mutated/deleted in >10% of melanomas [202]. However, PTEN loss alone is not sufficient to activate PI3K/AKT signaling and additional factors are needed [203]. One such factor is found to be FN [204], which, through α 5 β 1 integrins, maintain PI3K/AKT signaling and thereby reduce the effect of BRAF inhibitors [204, 205]. It has also been suggested that overexpression of AKT isoform 3 (a predominant isoform in melanoma) can elevate AKT signaling, facilitating innate resistance [206] (Figure 7C).

Recently, it has been disclosed that melanoma cells with low MITF expression and high levels of AXL [207, 208] and WNT5A [209], known as the invasive phenotype, poorly respond to BRAF/MAPK inhibitors (Figure 7C). This suggests that inducers of the invasive phenotype, like factors from the TME, might be important contributors to innate resistance.



Figure 7. Schematic illustration of the mechanisms associated with tumor genetic changes and phenotypic state in innate tumor resistance. A) normal conditions, B) MAPK independent activation of the cell cycle as a result of common lesions in melanoma C) Alternative signaling involvement from activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway and phenotype switch. See the text for further detailes. G1, S, G2 and M represent different phases of the cell cycle. BRAFi – BRAF inhibitor. Green and red arrows represent increased or decreased expression of the protein, respectively. Red stars indicate different changes within the protein. Solid and dashed lines represent activation or de-activation of the signaling, respectively.

1.3.5.2.2. TME influence

Several recent studies highlight the role of TME, both soluble factors and components of ECM, in regulating melanoma response to BRAF inhibitors (Summarized in Figure 8). Straussman et al. [117] demonstrated that fibroblast-secreted HGF activates its receptor MET. which stimulates the MAPK and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways, reducing the effect of the drug.

It has also been reported that macrophages that infiltrate BRAF inhibitor-treated melanomas secrete TNF that acts via I κ B kinase (IKK)/NF- κ B/MITF signaling, which makes melanoma resistant to BRAF inhibition [112].

Another recent study by Seifert et al. [210] respectively. has shown that extrinsic factors, derived



Figure 8. Schematic illustration of the influence of TME on melanoma innate resistance. See the text for a detailed explanation. Solid and dashed lines represent activation or de-activation of the signaling, respectively.

from different organs/sites, might have different influence on melanoma resistance. Factors from the central nervous system were shown to have the strongest influence, and this effect was mediated via the activation of PI3K signaling [210].

Hirata et al. [113] described a resistance mechanism mediated via ECM. This study showed that the BRAF inhibitor (PLX4072) also acts on melanoma-associated fibroblasts, making them produce different ECM proteins, including FN, THBS1 and TNC. Due to changed matrix composition and stiffness, the melanoma cells elevate integrin β 1/FAK/Src signaling and thereby escape the drug effects [113].

1.3.6. Combinatorial treatment strategies to potentiate treatment efficacy

The resistance mechanisms discussed above (chapter 1.3.5.) suggest new treatment strategies, where a BRAF inhibitor can be combined with another drug targeting pathways/molecules associated with resistance.

In pre-clinical models, BRAF inhibitors in combination with inhibitors of CDK4 [211], COT [197], various RTKs [117], integrins [113] and IKK [112] signaling were investigated, showing an improved anti-melanoma effect. Targeting the signaling pathways regulating the tumor invasive phenotype, like TGF β and WNT5A, has also been under investigation. Inhibition of WNT5A signaling demonstrated increased sensitivity to BRAF inhibitors, leading to tumor regression [163, 212]. Several TGF β inhibitors were developed for cancer therapy and demonstrated efficacy in preclinical studies, but in clinical trials they have showed no success so far [213].

Clinical trials have primarily focused on combinations of BRAF inhibitors with other MAPK pathway inhibitors or inhibitors of PI3K/mTOR signaling. The efficacy of a BRAF inhibitor in combination with a MEK inhibitor was compared to a BRAF inhibitor alone in a phase III clinical trial, randomizing 423 previously untreated patients with BRAF^{V600E/K} metastatic melanoma. The median progression-free survival and response rates in the combination treatment groups were 9.3 months and 67%, respectively, compared to 8.8 months and 51% in the mono-treatment group. At 3 years, the overall survival rate was 44% in the combination treatment group and 32% in the mono-treatment group (NCT01584648) [214, 215]. Even though this combination treatment reduces the risk of progression and improves the response rate and overall survival, resistance develops in the majority of the patients after approximately 1 year [216].

Promising results from inhibiting the PI3K-AKT-mTOR axis in experimental models [193, 198] encouraged the initiation of several clinical trials. Clinical trials with PI3K/mTOR inhibitors as single agents have shown limited success in melanoma [217]. A number of clinical trials where PI3K or mTOR inhibitors are combined with inhibitors of BRAF/MEK are on-going. Several trials are completed, but the results are not yet made public (NCT01820364, NCT01390818, NCT01337765) [216]. However, the latest results presented
at 2014 ASCO Annual Meeting report about high toxicity when combining both PI3K and MEK inhibitors [218].

As mentioned in chapter 1.3.4., immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors is at the frontline of melanoma treatment. Given that melanoma treatment with BRAF/MEK inhibitors increases the expression of immunosuppressive molecules, like PD-L1, [219], a combination of checkpoint and BRAF/MEK inhibitors is an attractive option. In pre-clinical studies such treatment significantly prolonged mice survival and retarded tumor growth [220]. Consequently, several clinical trials have been initiated (NCT01673854, NCT02224781, NCT01940809) to assess immunotherapy and targeted therapy combinations [221].

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Malignant melanoma is notorious for its abilities to metastasize and resist therapy, and we assumed that such aggressive behavior is favored through crosstalk with its microenvironment. The aim of this study was to investigate how TME factors promote prometastatic and drug resistance characteristics of melanoma, with the ultimate goal to find means for improving therapeutic response.

The specific aims for this project were to:

- Explore how the pro-metastatic, pro-inflammatory soluble factor S100A4 influences melanoma cell interactions with stromal cells, and to reveal the consequences for aggressive behavior of tumor cells (paper I)
- Investigate how different types of interactions with stromal cells influence melanoma cell sensitivity to the BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib and to reveal possible mechanisms behind stroma-mediated resistance (paper II)
- 3) Identify characteristic signaling pathways/molecular factors in the stromaprotected melanoma cells and explore them as targets in mono-therapy and in combination with the BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib (**papers II and III**)



Figure 9. Overview of the project. Investigation of tumor – microenvironment crosstalk through soluble factors (1) and melanoma cell – stromal cell close proximity (2), and its influence on metastatic and resistance functions of melanoma (3). BRAFi – BRAF inhibitor; Target X - molecular features of stroma-influenced melanoma that could be evaluated as therapeutic target.

3. SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS

Paper I. Metastasis-associated protein S100A4 induces a network of inflammatory cytokines that activate stromal cells to acquire pro-tumorigenic properties

This paper was initiated by the following hypothesis: when present in the microenvironment, the pro-metastatic soluble factor S100A4 triggers tumor – stromal cell crosstalk, which is beneficial for the tumor and favors metastases.

By using malignant melanoma as a model, we have demonstrated that S100A4 is enriched in the tumor – stroma border in metastatic TME *in vivo*. This observation motivated further *in vitro* studies, where we analyzed how extracellular S100A4 affects melanoma cells. By analyzing the transcriptional profile and secretome of melanoma cells stimulated with S100A4, we identified enhanced production of a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines/soluble factors, such as IL-8, CCL2, CXCL1, IL-6, IL-1b and SAA1. The tumor-conditioned media containing these proteins were further shown to activate endothelial and monocytic cells, which gained pro-angiogenic properties and the pro-tumorigenic M2 phenotype, respectively, i.e. characteristics of an inflammatory milieu. To evaluate whether such tumor-educated stromal cells can act back on tumor cells and promote their metastatic properties, melanoma cells were exposed to the activated monocytes/macrophages. We observed enhanced melanoma cell proliferation and migration, where the malignant cells left the tumor spheroid and readily spread on collagen matrix.

Overall, our data revealed how the pro-metastatic factor S100A4 stimulates melanoma cells to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines that engage angiogenic and inflammatory stromal cells to potentiate metastatic properties. This study highlights the tumor cells' ability to create an inflammatory environment and use it to facilitate metastasis.

Paper II. Fibroblast-induced switching to the mesenchymal-like phenotype and PI3K/mTOR signaling protects melanoma cells from BRAF inhibitors

This paper was initiated by the following hypothesis: stromal cells foster a melanoma cell phenotype with impaired sensitivity to BRAF inhibition and thereby contribute to resistance.

Melanoma cells were co-cultured *in vitro* with lung fibroblasts, endothelial cells or monocytes to mimic different types of interactions during treatment with vemurafenib. We showed that the lung fibroblasts and endothelial cells, but not the monocytes, reduced significantly the melanoma cells' sensitivity to the drug. This effect was primarily dependent on close proximity/cell – cell contacts between tumor and stromal cells and could not be achieved via soluble factor-mediated communication. The reduced sensitivity to vemurafenib in the cocultures with fibroblasts was validated by demonstrating the presence of a large fraction of melanoma cells that stayed proliferative, i.e. normally progressing through the cell cycle and positive for the proliferation marker Ki-67. Furthermore, fewer transcriptional changes were observed after vemurafenib treatment in co-cultures compared to mono-cultures. To investigate the possible biological mechanism behind fibroblast-promoted resistance, the molecular profile of melanoma cells from co-cultures and mono-cultures were compared by global gene expression. We observed that melanoma cells from co-cultures exhibited a clear switch towards the invasive, mesenchymal-like transcriptional state, characterized by downregulation of melanocytic markers (MITF and its targets) and up-regulation of mesenchymal markers, such as AXL, PDGFR and FN. At the signaling level, a higher level of p-mTOR and its downstream target pS6 was observed in the treated melanoma cells from co-cultures compared to mono-cultures. This suggested that the co-cultured melanoma cells, i.e. the invasive phenotype, might be dependent on the active PI3K/mTOR pathway. To explore this possibility, mTOR or the upstream PI3K signaling pathways were targeted, and the effects in co-cultures and mono-cultures were compared. We demonstrated eradication of pS6-positive melanoma cells as well as an enhanced anti-proliferative effect in co-cultures when PI3K/mTOR inhibitors were used in combination with vemurafenib. In addition, the benefit of mTOR and BRAF co-inhibition was also seen in early-stage lung metastases in vivo.

In conclusion, our findings signify the importance of stromal cells, specifically lung fibroblasts, in regulating phenotype switching in melanoma that is associated with resistance to BRAF inhibition. In addition, this study highlights the importance of phenotype-specific targeting in order to potentiate the overall efficacy of the treatment.

Paper III. Targeting stroma-supported melanoma cells resistant to BRAF inhibitors

This work was built on our previous observation that the presence of fibroblasts significantly reduces melanoma cells' sensitivity to the BRAF inhibitor vemurafenib (BRAFi). This finding demonstrated the need to find other targets than BRAF in order to improve the anti-cancer effect in melanoma influenced by fibroblasts.

Melanoma co-cultures with lung fibroblasts and mono-cultures were utilized to mimic stromainteracting and non-interacting tumor cells, respectively. To identify protein signatures that discriminate co-cultured and mono-cultured melanoma cells, we performed proteomic analysis by reverse phase protein array. The data indicated a clear proteome-modulating effect of fibroblasts. Thus, co-cultured melanoma had elevated levels of proteins common for the mesenchymal/inflammatory cellular state (such as AXL, PDGFR and p-c-Jun, pSTAT3) and reduced levels of proteins regulating melanocytic differentiation (MITF and β -catenin). Markers indicating cell proliferation (Ki67 and pRb) were also at lower levels in the cocultures. Altogether, this indicates that in the presence of fibroblasts, melanoma cells acquire a mesenchymal-like, less proliferative phenotype. To target such a phenotype, we first tested inhibitors of up-regulated PDGFR and AXL. However, no significant improvement in the anti-cancer effect in the BRAFi-treated co-cultures was observed. In search of other possible targets, we performed a large-scale screening of anti-cancer drugs in combination with BRAFi. We compared the efficacy of 384 drugs from the Selleck Chemicals Cambridge cancer compound library on melanoma cells grown in co-cultures versus mono-cultures. Forty-one compounds reduced cancer cell proliferation equally efficient or better in the coculture than in mono-cultures. Among them, there were 10 inhibitors of PI3K/mTOR, pointing at the PI3K-linked signaling pathway as a promising target. However, GSK3β inhibitor AR-A014418 (GSK3i) induced the strongest anti-proliferative effect in the co-cultures compared to mono-cultures. Further analysis on cell survival and levels of the proliferation marker Ki67 validated the potency of GSK3i in the co-cultures. However, in the mono-cultures GSK3i induced an adaptive response that attenuated the effect of BRAFi. Thus, while BRAFi alone pushed the mono-cultured cells into the quiescent state, defined as pS6^{low}/Ki67^{low}, cotreatment with GSK3i promoted the pS6^{high}/Ki67^{low} cellular state. Restored high levels of pS6 might indicate GSK3i-induced re-activation of mTOR in these culture conditions, i.e. the differentiated melanoma phenotype, and such an effect might not be desirable in a clinical situation. Further, we followed up on PI3K as a target and evaluated the efficacy of a clinically relevant pan-PI3K inhibitor, buparlisib (PI3Ki) in different cell cultures. PI3Ki induced a stronger anti-proliferative effect in co-cultures than mono-cultures. Furthermore, in the co-cultures the PI3Ki+BRAFi combination was more efficient than BRAFi alone. The combined treatment of the co-cultures was able to eliminate the proliferative pS6^{high}/Ki67^{high} cell fraction and push the cells into the quiescent pS6^{low}/Ki67^{low} state. In contrast to GSK3i, PI3Ki did not influence the anti-cancer effect of BRAFi in the mono-cultures. Thus, cotreatment with PI3Ki was beneficial against fibroblast-interacting melanoma cells that generally show poor response to BRAFi. In melanoma cells that lack fibroblasts support, i.e. good responders to BRAFi, PI3Ki treatment did not aid in the overall anti-cancer effect.

In conclusion, our findings demonstrate stroma-influenced, phenotype-dependent responses to targeted drugs. This study also highlights the importance of understanding biological mechanisms behind each drug action on cells with different phenotype. Designing rational combinations of drugs, which induce anti-proliferative effects in cancer cells of distinct phenotypes, could potentiate the overall efficacy of the treatment.

4. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Tumor – stroma communication is a complex process where different cells interact with each other, affecting properties and behavior of the cells. To recapitulate this complexity in an experimental system and track tumor cells specifically is a challenge. In this study, malignant melanoma was chosen as a model, since it readily adapt and respond to different microenvironmental stimuli, which might be one of the important reasons why melanoma easily develops metastasis and resistance to therapy. In addition, there is a huge need to improve therapeutic options in this aggressive disease.

In order to investigate how melanoma cells interact with different stromal cells and how this affects melanoma aggressiveness, we used *in vitro* co-cultures of different composition. To discriminate tumor cells from stromal cells, melanoma cells were stable labeled with green fluorescence protein (GFP)-Luciferase (LUC) construct. The GFP tag allowed us to identify tumor cells by fluorescent microscopy, immunofluorescence (IF) and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). LUC-generated bioluminescence, on the other hand, allowed us to track tumor development and response to treatments *in vivo*, by using an *in vivo* imaging system, and measure viability/proliferation exclusively in tumor cells when they were co-cultured with stromal cells.

4.1. Model systems

4.1.1. In vitro cultures

A majority of the experiments in this thesis have been performed using cultured human cell lines. Generally, cell lines are widely used in preclinical research as a simple and cheap model for investigation of biological mechanisms or evaluating new therapeutic strategies. Cell lines are easy to handle in functional studies, and it is easy to harvest sufficient amounts of material (proteins or RNA) for molecular analyses. Cell line experiments are also relatively easy to control, which is reflected in high reproducibility. Finally, it is a big advantage if *in vitro* systems can be used to substitute animal models, since use of the latter involves ethical considerations.

Growing cells as two-dimensional (2D) mono-cultures in a dish lacks most of the complexity observed in a living organism [222], i.e. three dimensional (3D) structure, ECM and neighboring stromal cells, meaning that no tumor - stroma interactions are recapitulated in such cultures. Some of the complexity/interactions can partly be re-created by forming 3D mono-culture spheroids and seeding them on a collagen/matrigel matrix [223] (as we did in **paper I**). Usage of co-cultures, where tumor cells are allowed to interact with stromal cells via cell – cell contacts or soluble factors (as we did in papers I-III), further brings in vitro systems closer to a real situation [224]. The co-cultures, however, are difficult to utilize in molecular and functional studies, since tumor cell-specific signals have to be discriminated from signals produced by the stromal cells. Thus, cell type specific gene/protein expression analysis by conventional methods (quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), Western immunoblotting (WB) or Simple Western immunoassay (SWI)) requires cell sorting based on a specific marker (e.g. GFP in our case) before the analysis. An alternative is to utilize multi-parameter flow cytometry (see chapter below 4.2.3.), which can discriminate GFP⁺ tumor from GFP⁻ stromal cells, and simultaneously measure a protein of interest (used in papers II and III). However, this technique usually shows limited sensitivity and cannot capture small differences in protein levels. In addition, tumor cell viability/proliferation in cocultures cannot be measured by conventional assays that score the cells' mitochondrial activity (e.g. MTS or CellTiter-Glo). To overcome this challenge, we made use of the LUC tag on the tumor cells and quantified LUC-produced bioluminescence as a measure of cell viability/proliferation. A comparison of this method with conventional assays in monocultures showed similar results (see **paper II**), validating its relevance.

None of the difficulties mentioned above are encountered in mono-cultures exposed to conditioned mediate collected from separately-cultured cells (as done in **paper I**). However, this strategy allows investigation of cell communication only through soluble factors and not cell – cell contacts. If soluble factors are the main mediators of the crosstalk, the conditioned media-based strategy is advantageous over the co-cultures due to its simplicity.

Seeding density of 2D cell cultures is of high importance, since over-confluent cellular density can lead to underestimation of cell proliferation, signaling and drug efficacy [225, 226]. Therefore, optimization of cell densities for different culture conditions was performed for all our models. Cell cultures were carefully inspected before and during the experiments to be sure that cell density was optimal (samples were discarded if cell confluence reached > 90%).

4.1.1.1. Cell lines

A large number of melanoma cell lines have been used in this thesis, though only three of them were in focus: Melmet 1 and Melmet 5 in **paper I**, and Melmet 5 and HM8 in **papers II** and **III**. All three cell lines were established in our Department and are very well characterized *in vitro* and *in vivo* [161, 227], making them attractive models for melanoma/metastasis studies. The cell lines originate from different metastatic sites in melanoma patients: subcutaneous metastases (Melmet 1), lymph node metastases (Melmet 5) and brain metastases (HM8) (all approved by the Norwegian Research Ethics Committee 2.2007.997, S-01252, and 2011/2183). In contrast to Melmet 5 and HM8, which represent the proliferative phenotype, Melmet 1 is associated with the invasive phenotype. Thus, a Melmet 1 and Melmet 5/HM8 cellular system is a good model to study phenotype-specific responses.

Three different types of stromal cells have been used in this thesis. Monocytic cell line THP-1 and embryonic lung fibroblast cell line WI-38 are commercially available and widely used by many laboratories. Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial cells (HUVEC) were isolated from human umbilical cord and provided by our collaborators at Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Norway. In **paper I**, which focused on inflammation-related interactions, monocytes and endothelial cells were used, since they are known to be involved in inflammatory processes [228, 229]. In **paper II** and **III**, which focused on stroma-dependent drug resistance, fibroblasts were used, due to their acknowledged role in EMT and resistance [117, 230]. Furthermore, patient-derived fibroblasts were tested in co-cultures, revealing a similar effect on melanoma drug resistance as the WI-38 lung fibroblast cell line (unpublished).

4.1.2. In vivo experimental models

In vivo animal models have the TME complexity and can thus well reproduce interactions between tumor and host cells. In addition, these models allow us to investigate side effects of treatment *in vivo*. The mouse is a leading organism for modeling human disease and testing experimental therapies *in vivo*. In order to generate human tumors in mice, the mouse immune system has to be suppressed. The absence of an intact immune system is one of the most important limitations of these *in vivo* models, since the immune cells play an important role in tumor development and therapy. Ethical considerations regarding the use of animals in research is another important limitation for the *in vivo* models.

In this thesis, athymic nude foxn1^{nu} mice have been in use. Due to disruption of the gene FOXN1, thymus is lost, resulting in loss of adaptive immunity cells, i.e. T cells, while cells involved in innate immunity, like macophages and natural killer (NK) cells, are preserved. This means that nude mice do not allow studies on effects involving T-cells, but responses involving BMDCs, macrophages and NK cells can still be observed. In addition, the hairless appearance of these animals simplifies vital imaging when tumor formation or response to treatment is scored by measuring bioluminescence derived from LUC^+ tumor cells (see **paper II**).

Two different experimental metastasis models have been used in this thesis: tumor cell injection into the left ventricle (L.V.) of the heart (**papers I** and **II**) and intravenously (i.v.) (**paper II**). The L.V. injection allows tumor cells to circulate within the body, followed by homing to preferred sites. By doing this, metastases at multiple sites can be initiated. The i.v. injection delivers tumor cells primarily to the lungs. Even though neither of these models reproduce the tumor cells' escape from a primary tumor and subsequent intravasation, they involve the other steps of the metastatic cascade [231] (see chapter 1.1.1.). Therefore, we can study site-specific differences with respect to metastatic growth or therapeutic response, as we did in **paper II**. A spontaneous metastasis model, where tumor cells are injected subcutaneously or orthotopically, form a "primary" tumor and eventually disseminate to distant sites, recapitulate all the steps of the metastatic cascade [231]. However, this model is difficult to establish, and our group has no such a model yet in place.

4.2. Experimental tools

4.2.1. High-throughput (HT) techniques

Multiple HT approaches were utilized in this thesis to explore biological mechanisms involved in tumor – stroma crosstalk and/or pinpoint potential targets for therapy: i) cytokine arrays to map soluble factors released by the tumor cells (**paper I**); ii) Illumina BeadChip array (**papers I** and **II**) and reverse phase protein arrays (RPPA) (**papers II** and **III**) to map gene expression and levels of (phospho)proteins, respectively, in tumor cells when stimulated with microenvironmental factors and/or therapy; iii) cancer drug sensitivity screening (CDSS) to explore tumor cell (with/without stroma) responses to compounds from the Selleck Chemicals Cambridge Cancer Compound Library (**paper III**). Even though such HT techniques supply a vast amount of data, their further analysis and integration into a coherent biological picture requires bioinformatics expertise. This aspect was only partially addressed in this thesis, and work is ongoing in collaboration with systems biology groups. HT-identified specific proteins/genes need to be validated. We used enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and WB/SWI for protein validation, and qPCR for gene expression validation.

The hits identified through CDSS also need to be validated through dose-response cell survival studies. CDSS was performed using one dose for all screened drugs, and if this dose was too high or too low, we might have missed a potential hit. One should also have in mind that many targeted drugs are not specific and induce off-target effects. Their specificity should be validated by measuring the levels of target proteins. In our studies, the level of pS6, a target of mTOR, was measured by WB and flow cytometry to evaluate specificity and activity of an mTOR inhibitor (**papers II**). We also used Wnt/ β -catenin reporter construct, TCF-LEF responsive luciferase, to validate that a GSK3 inhibitor stimulates Wnt/ β -catenin, which then binds to TCF-LEF transcription factors, leading to enhanced activity of luciferase.

4.2.2. Studies on cell signaling by measuring phosphoproteins

Phosphoproteins work as signaling molecules, transferring messages from one protein to another. Studies on phosphoproteins are challenging since phosphate groups can easily be "removed" because of various factors, such as phosphatases, proteases, time delays, differences in temperature, etc [232]. In our work, caution was taken to preserve the phosphate groups. For flow cytometry and IF analysis (papers II and III), samples were fixated in paraformaldehyde/formalin immediately after harvesting to halt kinase and phosphatase activity [233]. For WB/SWI/RPPA, cell lysates were prepared in lysis buffer supplemented with compounds preserving phosphate groups (papers II and III). Multiple freezing and thawing were avoided. Preparation of tumor cell lysates from co-cultures requires tumor cell separation from stromal cells by FACS. Being aware of the fact that phosphorylation might be affected by this "harsh" procedure, mono-cultured cells were also "sorted" through the FACS machine. Eventually, we compared the levels of (phospho)proteins in sorted and non-sorted cells from the mono-cultures to be sure that these levels were not affected by the FACS procedure (papers II and III). One of the proteins where phosphorylation was affected during FACS, was ERK. For this reason, pERK activity in this study was evaluated by other means, i.e. flow cytometry and IF.

4.2.3. Multi-parameter intracellular flow cytometry

Multi-parameter flow cytometry allows measurement of several proteins of interest at once in each cell. We primarily used this technique to discriminate GFP^+ tumor cells from GFP^- stromal cells and simultaneously measure the levels of 2-3 phosphoproteins in the tumor fraction. Importantly, we employed a barcoding strategy, where the samples to be compared were given a certain "barcode" before they were mixed and stained "as one" with specific antibodies. In this way, we avoided tube – tube staining variations, and even small differences in protein levels observed between the barcoded samples could be considered "real".

Another important advantage of flow cytometry is its ability to discriminate cell subpopulations and thereby explore the diversity of the cellular system. Conventional analysis

of pooled cells, e.g. by WB/SWI, measures average levels of proteins; cell subpopulations with exceptional levels of the protein will not be captured. Flow cytometry can discriminate cell fractions with defined characteristics. For example, in our case, we identified cell subpopulations with different levels of pS6, and showed that they differ with respect to cell cycle (**paper II**). However, some limitations apply also to this method. Due to spectral overlap between different fluorochromes that are conjugated to antibodies, a limited number of different proteins can be measured at once (we analyzed maximum 5). In addition, challenging fluorescence compensation has to be performed in order to avoid spectral overlap between fluorochromes to avoid false positive signals. The above mentioned limitations are avoided in the new generation of cytometry, mass cytometry, which is based on mass-labeled, instead of fluorescently-labeled, antibodies [234]. This technique allows measuring of up to 35 surface- and functional-proteins in one cell and will be implemented in our system for future studies.

4.2.4. Immunofluorescence (IF)

Another antibody-based method implemented in this thesis (**papers I-III**) was IF. This technique enables visualization of intracellular (e.g. cytoplasm *versus* nucleus) or spatial (e.g. tumor cell localization with respect to stromal cells) localization of proteins. For *in vitro* studies, we have developed asymmetric co-cultures, where tumor cell regions with or without fibroblast as "neighbors" are generated in the same dish. IF analysis of such cultures allowed us to reveal the differences in protein levels depending on tumor cell localization (**papers II** and **III**).

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The knowledge about TME in cancer progression and therapy is relatively new, but it is an increasingly recognized topic in the field of cancer research. We hypothesize that the ability of malignant melanoma to establish metastases and resist therapies might be associated with its intrinsic capability to exploit the microenvironment. Thus, the crosstalk between melanoma cells and microenvironmental factors has been the main underlying topic throughout all three papers presented in this thesis. The thesis highlights the role of tumor – stroma interactions in shaping the melanoma phenotype towards a more aggressive state, with enhanced prometastatic and drug-resistant characteristics. Specifically, we revealed soluble factor-mediated communication between tumor cells and inflammatory myeloid cells, which promoted melanoma growth and invasion (paper I). We also disclosed cell - cell contact-mediated crosstalk between melanoma and fibroblasts that resulted in melanoma phenotype switching and, consequently, resistance to BRAF inhibition (papers II and III). Several ways to target such stroma-protected melanoma cells were evaluated (papers II and III). In summary, this thesis presents original data on how cancer cells exploit cellular and soluble factors of the microenvironment to potentiate melanoma aggressiveness, and suggests targetable nodes for phenotype-directed therapies.

5.1. Stroma-regulated phenotype switching – a reason for resistance and a target for therapy

In **paper I**, melanoma cells' response to the pro-inflammatory factor S100A4 and their further interactions with inflammatory stromal cells were investigated. We revealed that S100A4-stimulated melanoma cells secrete a plethora of cytokines that recruit and educate myeloid cells, such as monocytes/TAMs. The educated myeloid cells act back on the tumor cells and potentiate their aggressive properties. Recently, Riesenberg et al. [235] demonstrated that pro-inflammatory factors, such as TNF, stimulate melanoma cells to switch their phenotype to the de-differentiated MITF^{low} state, known as the invasive phenotype. This phenotypic state was

associated with an elevated production of cytokines and enhanced recruitment of myeloid cells. Such interconnectivity between an inflammatory milieu and phenotype switching made the authors suggest that myeloid cell-directed therapies might work against the invasive phenotype [235]. How S100A4 influences the phenotypic state in melanoma was not investigated in **paper I**. However, one of our later studies revealed an induction of the MITF^{low} invasive phenotype in S100A4 stimulated melanomas [236]. Thus, the S100A4 potentiated recruitment of pro-tumorigenic myeloid cells might be associated with S100A4-induced phenotypic switching in melanoma. In this respect, our study supports the notion that the invasive phenotype is more pro-inflammatory and more prone to engage monocytes/TAMs, which might be its Achilles' heel from a therapeutic perspective (discussed later in chapter 5.1.2).

In papers II and III, we focused on stroma-dependent melanoma resistance to BRAF inhibition and how it could be overcome. We observed that melanoma cells in co-cultures with fibroblasts undergo a phenotypic switch to the invasive state, characterized by reduced levels of MITF and elevated levels of mesenchymal markers. We suggest that such a phenotype transition is one of the main mechanisms for how stromal cells protect adjacent melanoma cells from BRAF inhibitors. Consequently, we propose that by targeting the invasive phenotype cells, we could potentiate the efficacy of melanoma therapy in phenotypically heterogeneous tumors. Several recent review papers discussed phenotypic plasticity as a resistance mechanism and therapeutic target in melanoma [237, 238]. It has also been reported that epithelial cancers undergoing EMT show lower susceptibility to different treatments [239]. Collectively, this indicates that the invasive phenotype plays an important role in tumor resistance and signifies the need to understand biological mechanisms supporting this role, particularly in the context of stroma. This knowledge should help to tailor phenotype-directed therapies. Thus, the important questions are as follows: can we disclose intrinsic features or extrinsic interactions that are vital for the invasive phenotype, and can they be further exploited as therapeutic targets? In the following sections, several options will be presented, where both phenotype-specific intrinsic and extrinsic properties will be discussed from a therapeutic perspective.

5.1.1. Intrinsic properties: signaling pathways

Tumor cell functions are usually governed through signaling pathways, and phenotype transition seems to not be an exception. As we discussed in **paper II**, when cancer cells undergo phenotypic switch, they rewire their signaling networks. Such reprogramming might explain why targeted drugs aimed at a specific signaling pathway (e.g. BRAF inhibitors) work against one phenotype, but not the other. The fact that the MITF^{low} invasive phenotype shows poor response to MAPK pathway inhibitors has also been reported by others [207, 208]. Those studies, though, did not address the significance of stroma for this phenomenon. However, a very recent study by Tirosh et al. [240], performed on melanoma patient material, revealed that fibroblast-rich tumors preferentially display the MITF^{low} mesenchymal-like phenotype. This observation is in line with our results, suggesting that the presence of fibroblasts shape melanoma cell phenotype and can thereby modulate their sensitivity to targeted therapy.

Based on the molecular studies in paper II and CDSS in paper III, we anticipate that the CAF-interacting melanoma, i.e. the invasive phenotype, might utilize PI3K/mTOR signaling and therefore be resistant to BRAF inhibition. This notion was supported by functional studies, where improved therapeutic response in BRAF inhibitor-treated co-cultures was observed after co-treatment with PI3K or mTOR inhibitors. In contrast, inhibitors of other targets in the MAPK pathway did not improve the effect in the co-cultures, arguing against MAPK-reactivation as a resistance mechanism in the presence of CAFs (paper II). This data led us to propose that the invasive phenotype of melanoma might prefer the PI3K/mTOR pathway instead of MAPK. Rewiring of signaling towards PI3K was also reported for epithelial cancers undergoing EMT [241], and this effect was linked to alternate RTKs. We also identified up-regulation of several RTKs in the co-cultured melanoma cells. Two of them, PDGFR and AXL, which are known to potentiate PI3K signaling [242, 243], were explored as therapeutic targets in **paper III**. However, neither sunitinib, an inhibitor of multiple RTKs, nor BGB324, an AXL inhibitor, improved the anti-cancer effect in BRAF inhibitor-treated cocultures. Thus, targeting more common signaling nodes down-stream from RTKs (like PI3K/mTOR) instead of specific RTKs might be a more efficient approach.

In **paper III**, we employed CDSS, aiming to identify compounds that induce anti-cancer effects more efficiency in co-cultures than mono-cultures. The most efficient compound was AR-A014418, an inhibitor of GSK3β. This suggested that GSK3β activity might be vital for co-cultured melanoma cells, i.e. the invasive phenotype. One of the best-described roles of active GSK3B is to suppress Wnt/B-catenin signaling. Inhibition of GSK3B "rescue" B-catenin from degradation, leading to potentiation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling [244]. Thus, our data suggest that co-cultured melanoma might prefer inactive Wnt/β-catenin, while its activation via GSK3 inhibition might be detrimental for such cells. This is in line with what is known about the role of Wnt in regulating phenotypic switch. Canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is a recognized driver of the MITF^{high} differentiated phenotype. In contrast, suppression of such signaling is a characteristic of the MITF^{low} invasive phenotype [159, 245]. Although targeting the invasive phenotype through modulation of Wnt/β-catenin might seem as an attractive approach, it also raises important concerns. Since this pathway plays an opposite role in the distinct phenotypes, its modulation might induce opposite therapeutic outcomes depending on the phenotype. Indeed, in **paper III** we observed that the GSK3 β inhibitor impaired the effect of the BRAF inhibitor in mono-cultured melanoma cells, i.e. the differentiated phenotype. This might be problematic in a clinical setting if phenotypically heterogeneous tumors were treated with a combination of BRAF and GSK3 inhibitors.

In summary, we identified that suppression of PI3K, GSK3β or mTOR pathways enhances the anti-cancer effect in CAF-interacting melanoma, which shows resistance to MAPK inhibitors. We propose that the PI3K-GSK-mTOR signaling network might be preferred by cells of the invasive phenotype. Further clarification of signaling preferences of each phenotype, and disclosure of critical nodes, should help to tailor phenotype-specific targeted therapies.

5.1.2. Extrinsic properties: engagement of CAFs and immune cells

The TME harbors numerous cellular and soluble/ECM factors that are able to trigger phenotypic switch. This raises the question of whether such factors could be targeted in order to eliminate the invasive phenotype. In **paper II**, we demonstrated the importance of

fibroblasts in promoting melanoma resistance, which was also observed by Hirata et al. [113], and made us inquire whether we can target CAFs to overcome this resistance? This requires identification of specific, targetable features in CAFs. Generally, CAFs are too similar to normal fibroblasts, and, therefore, targeting them is challenging. One factor, though, fibroblast activation protein (FAP) a, has predominantly been identified in CAFs [246]. However, clinical trials targeting FAPa gave disappointing results [246]. The current thesis has not investigated CAFs characteristics, mainly due to difficulties in isolating a pure (not contaminated with melanoma cells) fraction of CAFs. However, this issue was addressed by Hirata et al., who identified up-regulation of ECM remodeling factors in CAFs from treated co-cultures [113]. The authors highlighted alterations within ECM, specifically FN, as an essential event in CAF-mediated resistance to BRAF inhibitors. The modulated ECM affected signaling in melanoma. In addition, Fedorenko et al. has observed that melanoma resistance is associated with ECM/FN-affected RTK/PI3K/AKT signaling [204]. Altogether, this signifies the role of CAFs/CAF-produced ECM in modulating melanoma signaling, and consequently, response to targeted therapy. The mentioned studies, though, have not analyzed whether or how modulated ECM/FN affected the melanoma phenotype. However, it has been reported by others that exposure to exogenous FN stimulates EMT responses and motility in epithelial cancer cells [55, 247]. It should be noted, that we also observed that CAFs deposit a dense network of FN in co-cultures, which surrounds the adjacent melanoma cells (Figure 10). Such an ECM architecture could significantly influence signaling, and consequently, phenotype and function of the embedded melanoma cells. This issue, though, has not been investigated in detail in this thesis. However, we did identify ILK signaling among the most affected pathways in co-cultured melanoma cells (paper II). Since FN is a ligand for integrins, it is likely that the observed potentiation of the ILK pathway is due to influence from the FN network. Due to FN's role and abundance in TME at the tumor periphery, it has been considered a target for tumor therapy. For example, coupling therapeutic agents to anti-FN antibodies has been tested for selective delivery to TME [248].



Figure 10. Melanoma cells get embedded in a FN network in co-cultures. GFP^+ melanoma cells and GFP^- fibroblasts were co-cultured for 72 hrs before IF co-staining for FN, GFP, actin filaments and nuclei (DAPI). A dense network of FN with trapped green melanoma cells is seen in co-cultures, but not in mono-cultures, where no FN mesh could be seen. IF was performed by Marco Haselager.

Altered engagement of immune cells might represent another extrinsic property of the invasive phenotype that could be explored from a therapeutic perspective. As discussed above, our data (**paper I** and [236]) and the study by Riesenberg et al. [235] suggest that the invasive phenotype is more prone to recruit, educate and benefit from inflammatory myeloid cells, such as TAMs. Furthermore, we observed stimulation of inflammatory signaling pathways, STAT3 and JNK, in co-cultured melanoma cells (**paper III**). This observation further supports the notion that fibroblast-induced transition to the invasive phenotype might foster an inflammatory milieu. Similarly, Su et al. [249] also reported on the strong bidirectional crosstalk between breast cancer cells undergoing EMT and TAMs. Collectively, this suggests that by interrupting tumor – TAM communication, we could target the invasive phenotype.

A number of strategies have been suggested to target TAMs or their recruitment. These include inhibition of colony stimulating factor 1 and its receptor, or neutralization of CCL2 (reviewed in [250]). In addition, reprogramming of M2 TAMs towards the anti-tumorigenic M1 state has been proposed. For example, it was shown that inhibition of PI3K γ stimulates the M1 TAM phenotype and potentiates tumor regression [83].

Besides an influence on innate immunity cells, the invasive phenotype appears to affect the functions of adaptive immunity, i.e. T-cells. The association between mesenchymal transition/MITF^{low} state and impaired T-cell functions/immune suppression has been observed in both melanoma and epithelial cancers [240, 251]. This topic, however, has not been investigated in our experimental systems, as they do not allow recapitulation of T-cell responses. However, some of our results might be interesting to discuss from an immune interactions/therapy perspective. First of all, melanoma cells in different phenotypic states might have different abilities to express and present melanocytic antigens, which might influence how they are recognized by the immune system. It has been reported that the inflammation-induced de-differentiated state down-regulates melanocytic antigens and abrogates immune recognition by T cells [164]. Based on transcriptome analysis, we identified antigen-presentation as the most affected pathway in the co-cultured melanoma cells. We found up-regulation of multiple members of major histocompatibility complex class I and II, which would favor antigen presentation. This observation, however, has not been further explored, but is an interesting topic for future research. Secondly, it has been reported that the tumor-intrinsic signaling pathways, such as PI3K/AKT/mTOR and Wnt/β-catenin, can regulate immune evasion [252-254]. Having in mind that we found these networks to be associated with the invasive phenotype, we can speculate that they could contribute to phenotype-associated evasion from the immune system. Thirdly, both CAFs and TAMs that accompany the invasive phenotype also produce immune suppressive factors, such as PD-L1 [186, 188]. For example, Tirosh et al. [240] has reported that CAFs, which favored the MITF^{low} invasive phenotype, simultaneously regulated T-cell exhaustion. Furthermore, it has been reported that induction of EMT leads to up-regulation of PD-L1 [255]. Taken together, this suggests that it might be beneficial to target the invasive phenotype via immune therapy with checkpoint inhibitors, which remains to be explored.

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Communication between tumor cells and factors of the microenvironment has recently gained increasing attention. This could eventually help designing improved strategies for metastasis treatment. To achieve this, an increased understanding of how the crosstalk between a tumor and its microenvironment at distant sites is executed and how it changes properties of both counterparts is required. The present thesis addresses these issues using cellular systems of different complexity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. We demonstrate how melanoma cells can exploit soluble and cellular factors of the microenvironment to potentiate features that melanomas are notorious for, i.e. metastatic propensity and drug resistance.

We showed that under the influence of stroma, melanoma cells undergo phenotype switching and acquire different characteristics, which are absent or less pronounced without stromal support. Such stromal influence leads to phenotypic heterogeneity in the tumor, where both stroma-dependent and independent melanoma cells co-exist and need to be targeted (Figure 11). Importantly, we demonstrate that the phenotypic heterogeneity is associated with diversity in response to therapy that is currently in use. Specifically, we showed that the stroma-dependent phenotype lose sensitivity to BRAF inhibition, which signifies the need to tailor phenotype-specific targeted therapies. Several targetable nodes in the stroma-induced phenotype were disclosed through our studies (e.g. PI3K, mTOR or GSK3 β). In future research, it would be advantageous to perform system-level analysis of our "-omics" and drug-screening data. The aim would be to model phenotype-specific signaling networks and their perturbations upon treatment. This would help to predict targets that were not disclosed by manual approaches. Eventually, a validation of all identified candidate targets in more complex *in vivo* metastasis models and clinical cohorts should be done.

An association between a phenotypic state and immune interactions is another highly interesting topic for future research. This would help to clarify whether stroma-dependent tumor cells are eligible for immune therapy. Our data suggests that the stroma-dependent and stroma-independent phenotype prefer different signaling pathways. On the other hand, the literature reports that tumor-intrinsic signaling pathways can regulate immune responses [235,

249]. Taken together, this motivates studies on phenotype-dependent immune interactions and how they are modulated by relevant targeted drugs. This is especially important in melanoma, where immune therapy shows great promise.



Figure 11. Illustrative summary of the main observations and therapeutic options discussed in the thesis. The figure is inspired by ©Science Shaped.

Finally, the data presented in this thesis support the concept of a relationship between inflammation and metastasis. We show how the metastasis-promoting factor S100A4 induces an inflammatory milieu involving myeloid cells, which are exploited by metastatic cells to potentiate their aggressive properties. The involvement of inflammation/TAMs raises new possibilities for therapy, which remains to be explored. However, increased knowledge on phenotype-specific influences on TAMs and vice versa in different contexts or treatments are required to pinpoint targetable nodes.

In conclusion, through our studies we revealed diversity and plasticity in the interplay between tumor and stroma, forming a well-functioning ecosystem that assures growth and survival of the malignant cells. The complexity and phenotypic plasticity within such a cancer ecosystem creates both challenges and new opportunities for anti-metastatic therapy.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Egeblad M, Nakasone ES, Werb Z. Tumors as organs: complex tissues that interface with the entire organism. *Dev Cell*. 2010, 18(6):884-901.
- 2. Gupta GP, Massague J. Cancer metastasis: building a framework. *Cell.* 2006, 127(4):679-695.
- 3. <u>www.who.int/cancer/en/</u>. World Health Organization. Accessed 11'th of August, 2016.
- 4. Hansen J. Common cancers in the elderly. *Drugs Aging*. 1998, 13(6):467-478.
- 5. https://<u>www.kreftregisteret.no/Registrene/Kreftstatistikk/</u>. Kreftregisteret. Accessed 11'th of August, 2016.
- 6. Merlo LM, Pepper JW, Reid BJ, Maley CC. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2006, 6(12):924-935.
- 7. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell.* 2000, 100(1):57-70.
- 8. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* 2011, 144(5):646-674.
- 9. Faltas B. Cornering metastases: therapeutic targeting of circulating tumor cells and stem cells. *Front Oncol.* 2012, 2(68):68.
- 10. Klein CA. Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2009, 9(4):302-312.
- 11. Talmadge JE, Fidler IJ. AACR centennial series: the biology of cancer metastasis: historical perspective. *Cancer Res.* 2010, 70(14):5649-5669.
- 12. Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Clin Invest.* 2009, 119(6):1420-1428.
- 13. Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R. Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2014, 15(3):178-196.
- 14. Sever R, Brugge JS. Signal transduction in cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* 2015, 5(4).
- 15. Laplante M, Sabatini DM. mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. *Cell.* 2012, 149(2):274-293.
- 16. Komatsu N, Fujita Y, Matsuda M, Aoki K. mTORC1 upregulation via ERK-dependent gene expression change confers intrinsic resistance to MEK inhibitors in oncogenic KRas-mutant cancer cells. *Oncogene*. 2015, 34(45):5607-5616.
- 17. Manoukian AS, Woodgett JR. Role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in cancer: regulation by Wnts and other signaling pathways. *Adv Cancer Res.* 2000, 84:203-229.
- 18. Wu D, Pan W. GSK3: a multifaceted kinase in Wnt signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2010, 35(3):161-168.
- 19. Zhao S, Fu J, Liu X, Wang T, Zhang J, Zhao Y. Activation of Akt/GSK-3beta/beta-catenin signaling pathway is involved in survival of neurons after traumatic brain injury in rats. *Neurol Res.* 2012, 34(4):400-407.
- 20. Inoki K, Ouyang H, Zhu T, Lindvall C, Wang Y, Zhang X, Yang Q, Bennett C, Harada Y, Stankunas K, Wang CY, He X, MacDougald OA, You M, Williams BO, Guan KL. TSC2 integrates Wnt and energy signals via a coordinated phosphorylation by AMPK and GSK3 to regulate cell growth. *Cell.* 2006, 126(5):955-968.
- 21. Bissell MJ, Radisky D. Putting tumours in context. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2001, 1(1):46-54.
- 22. Paget S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 1989, 8(2):98-101.

- 23. Bubendorf L, Schopfer A, Wagner U, Sauter G, Moch H, Willi N, Gasser TC, Mihatsch MJ. Metastatic patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. *Hum Pathol.* 2000, 31(5):578-583.
- 24. Hess KR, Varadhachary GR, Taylor SH, Wei W, Raber MN, Lenzi R, Abbruzzese JL. Metastatic patterns in adenocarcinoma. *Cancer.* 2006, 106(7):1624-1633.
- 25. Patel JK, Didolkar MS, Pickren JW, Moore RH. Metastatic pattern of malignant melanoma. A study of 216 autopsy cases. *Am J Surg.* 1978, 135(6):807-810.
- 26. Kaplan RN, Rafii S, Lyden D. Preparing the "soil": the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Res.* 2006, 66(23):11089-11093.
- 27. Sleeman JP. The metastatic niche and stromal progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 2012, 31(3-4):429-440.
- 28. Psaila B, Lyden D. The metastatic niche: adapting the foreign soil. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2009, 9(4):285-293.
- 29. Erler JT, Bennewith KL, Cox TR, Lang G, Bird D, Koong A, Le QT, Giaccia AJ. Hypoxia-induced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Cell*. 2009, 15(1):35-44.
- 30. Qian B, Deng Y, Im JH, Muschel RJ, Zou Y, Li J, Lang RA, Pollard JW. A distinct macrophage population mediates metastatic breast cancer cell extravasation, establishment and growth. *PLoS One.* 2009, 4(8):e6562.
- 31. Liu CM, Hsieh CL, Shen CN, Lin CC, Shigemura K, Sung SY. Exosomes from the tumor microenvironment as reciprocal regulators that enhance prostate cancer progression. *Int J Urol.* 2016, 2016(10):13145.
- 32. Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat Med.* 2013, 19(11):1423-1437.
- 33. Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. *J Cell Sci.* 2012, 125(Pt 23):5591-5596.
- 34. Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell.* 2012, 21(3):309-322.
- 35. Brucher BL, Jamall IS. Cell-cell communication in the tumor microenvironment, carcinogenesis, and anticancer treatment. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* 2014, 34(2):213-243.
- 36. Liu CM, Hsieh CL, Shen CN, Lin CC, Shigemura K, Sung SY. Exosomes from the tumor microenvironment as reciprocal regulators that enhance prostate cancer progression. *Int J Urol.* 2016, 23(9):734-744.
- 37. Acharyya S, Oskarsson T, Vanharanta S, Malladi S, Kim J, Morris PG, Manova-Todorova K, Leversha M, Hogg N, Seshan VE, Norton L, Brogi E, Massague J. A CXCL1 paracrine network links cancer chemoresistance and metastasis. *Cell.* 2012, 150(1):165-178.
- 38. Kandouz M: Intercellular Communication in Cancer. Princeton, NY: Springer Netherlands; 2015.
- 39. Brissette JL, Kumar NM, Gilula NB, Hall JE, Dotto GP. Switch in gap junction protein expression is associated with selective changes in junctional permeability during keratinocyte differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1994, 91(14):6453-6457.
- 40. Ableser MJ, Penuela S, Lee J, Shao Q, Laird DW. Connexin43 reduces melanoma growth within a keratinocyte microenvironment and during tumorigenesis in vivo. *J Biol Chem.* 2014, 289(3):1592-1603.
- 41. Stoletov K, Strnadel J, Zardouzian E, Momiyama M, Park FD, Kelber JA, Pizzo DP, Hoffman R, VandenBerg SR, Klemke RL. Role of connexins in metastatic breast cancer and melanoma brain colonization. *J Cell Sci.* 2013, 126(Pt 4):904-913.

- 42. Yang J, Liu B, Wang Q, Yuan D, Hong X, Yang Y, Tao L. Connexin 32 and its derived homotypic gap junctional intercellular communication inhibit the migration and invasion of transfected HeLa cells via enhancement of intercellular adhesion. *Mol Med Rep.* 2011, 4(5):971-979.
- 43. Lin Q, Balasubramanian K, Fan D, Kim SJ, Guo L, Wang H, Bar-Eli M, Aldape KD, Fidler IJ. Reactive astrocytes protect melanoma cells from chemotherapy by sequestering intracellular calcium through gap junction communication channels. *Neoplasia*. 2010, 12(9):748-754.
- 44. Kim SJ, Kim JS, Park ES, Lee JS, Lin Q, Langley RR, Maya M, He J, Kim SW, Weihua Z, Balasubramanian K, Fan D, Mills GB, Hung MC, Fidler IJ. Astrocytes upregulate survival genes in tumor cells and induce protection from chemotherapy. *Neoplasia*. 2011, 13(3):286-298.
- 45. Chen Q, Boire A, Jin X, Valiente M, Er EE, Lopez-Soto A, Jacob LS, Patwa R, Shah H, Xu K, Cross JR, Massague J. Carcinoma-astrocyte gap junctions promote brain metastasis by cGAMP transfer. *Nature.* 2016, 533(7604):493-498.
- 46. Kim SH, Turnbull J, Guimond S. Extracellular matrix and cell signalling: the dynamic cooperation of integrin, proteoglycan and growth factor receptor. *J Endocrinol.* 2011, 209(2):139-151.
- 47. Jones JL, Walker RA. Integrins: a role as cell signalling molecules. *Mol Pathol.* 1999, 52(4):208-213.
- 48. Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Integrin signalling at a glance. *J Cell Sci.* 2009, 122(Pt 2):159-163.
- 49. Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. *Cell.* 2002, 110(6):673-687.
- 50. Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, Kaiser EA, Snyder LA, Pollard JW. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature*. 2011, 475(7355):222-225.
- 51. Peinado H, Aleckovic M, Lavotshkin S, Matei I, Costa-Silva B, Moreno-Bueno G, Hergueta-Redondo M, Williams C, Garcia-Santos G, Ghajar C, Nitadori-Hoshino A, Hoffman C, Badal K, Garcia BA, Callahan MK, Yuan J, Martins VR, Skog J, Kaplan RN, Brady MS, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB, Kang Y, Bromberg J, Lyden D. Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. *Nat Med.* 2012, 18(6):883-891.
- 52. Wolf MJ, Hoos A, Bauer J, Boettcher S, Knust M, Weber A, Simonavicius N, Schneider C, Lang M, Sturzl M, Croner RS, Konrad A, Manz MG, Moch H, Aguzzi A, van Loo G, Pasparakis M, Prinz M, Borsig L, Heikenwalder M. Endothelial CCR2 signaling induced by colon carcinoma cells enables extravasation via the JAK2-Stat5 and p38MAPK pathway. *Cancer Cell.* 2012, 22(1):91-105.
- 53. Levental KR, Yu H, Kass L, Lakins JN, Egeblad M, Erler JT, Fong SF, Csiszar K, Giaccia A, Weninger W, Yamauchi M, Gasser DL, Weaver VM. Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling. *Cell*. 2009, 139(5):891-906.
- 54. Zaman MH, Trapani LM, Sieminski AL, Mackellar D, Gong H, Kamm RD, Wells A, Lauffenburger DA, Matsudaira P. Migration of tumor cells in 3D matrices is governed by matrix stiffness along with cell-matrix adhesion and proteolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2006, 103(29):10889-10894.
- 55. Oudin MJ, Jonas O, Kosciuk T, Broye LC, Guido BC, Wyckoff J, Riquelme D, Lamar JM, Asokan SB, Whittaker C, Ma D, Langer R, Cima MJ, Wisinski KB, Hynes RO, Lauffenburger DA, Keely PJ, Bear JE, Gertler FB. Tumor Cell-Driven Extracellular Matrix Remodeling Drives Haptotaxis during Metastatic Progression. *Cancer Discov.* 2016, 6(5):516-531.
- 56. Kosmehl H, Berndt A, Strassburger S, Borsi L, Rousselle P, Mandel U, Hyckel P, Zardi L, Katenkamp D. Distribution of laminin and fibronectin isoforms in oral mucosa and oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Br J Cancer.* 1999, 81(6):1071-1079.

- 58. Oskarsson T, Acharyya S, Zhang XH, Vanharanta S, Tavazoie SF, Morris PG, Downey RJ, Manova-Todorova K, Brogi E, Massague J. Breast cancer cells produce tenascin C as a metastatic niche component to colonize the lungs. *Nat Med.* 2011, 17(7):867-874.
- 59. Cox TR, Bird D, Baker AM, Barker HE, Ho MW, Lang G, Erler JT. LOX-mediated collagen crosslinking is responsible for fibrosis-enhanced metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 2013, 73(6):1721-1732.
- 60. McAnulty RJ. Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts: their source, function and role in disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2007, 39(4):666-671.
- 61. Cirri P, Chiarugi P. Cancer associated fibroblasts: the dark side of the coin. *Am J Cancer Res.* 2011, 1(4):482-497.
- 62. Zeisberg EM, Potenta S, Xie L, Zeisberg M, Kalluri R. Discovery of endothelial to mesenchymal transition as a source for carcinoma-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 2007, 67(21):10123-10128.
- 63. Kalluri R, Zeisberg M. Fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006, 6(5):392-401.
- 64. Ohlund D, Elyada E, Tuveson D. Fibroblast heterogeneity in the cancer wound. *J Exp Med.* 2014, 211(8):1503-1523.
- 65. Mahale J, Smagurauskaite G, Brown K, Thomas A, Howells LM. The role of stromal fibroblasts in lung carcinogenesis: A target for chemoprevention? *Int J Cancer.* 2016, 138(1):30-44.
- 66. Gaggioli C, Hooper S, Hidalgo-Carcedo C, Grosse R, Marshall JF, Harrington K, Sahai E. Fibroblast-led collective invasion of carcinoma cells with differing roles for RhoGTPases in leading and following cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2007, 9(12):1392-1400.
- 67. Li J, Jia Z, Kong J, Zhang F, Fang S, Li X, Li W, Yang X, Luo Y, Lin B, Liu T. Carcinoma-Associated Fibroblasts Lead the Invasion of Salivary Gland Adenoid Cystic Carcinoma Cells by Creating an Invasive Track. *PLoS One.* 2016, 11(3):e0150247.
- 68. Flach EH, Rebecca VW, Herlyn M, Smalley KSM, Anderson ARA. Fibroblasts contribute to melanoma tumour growth and drug resistance. *Mol Pharm.* 2011, 8(6):2039-2049.
- 69. Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. *Cell.* 2010, 140(6):883-899.
- 70. Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, Cretney E, Trapani JA, Taniguchi M, Kawano T, Pelikan SB, Crowe NY, Godfrey DI. Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. *J Exp Med.* 2000, 191(4):661-668.
- 71. Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2004, 4(1):71-78.
- 72. Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell.* 2010, 141(1):39-51.
- 73. Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE. The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. *J Pathol.* 2002, 196(3):254-265.
- 74. Yamashiro S, Takeya M, Nishi T, Kuratsu J, Yoshimura T, Ushio Y, Takahashi K. Tumor-derived monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 induces intratumoral infiltration of monocyte-derived macrophage subpopulation in transplanted rat tumors. *Am J Pathol.* 1994, 145(4):856-867.
- 75. Sica A, Larghi P, Mancino A, Rubino L, Porta C, Totaro MG, Rimoldi M, Biswas SK, Allavena P, Mantovani A. Macrophage polarization in tumour progression. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2008, 18(5):349-355.
- 76. Sica A, Bronte V. Altered macrophage differentiation and immune dysfunction in tumor development. *J Clin Invest.* 2007, 117(5):1155-1166.

60

- 77. McClellan JL, Davis JM, Steiner JL, Enos RT, Jung SH, Carson JA, Pena MM, Carnevale KA, Berger FG, Murphy EA. Linking tumor-associated macrophages, inflammation, and intestinal tumorigenesis: role of MCP-1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* 2012, 303(10):G1087-1095.
- 78. DeNardo DG, Barreto JB, Andreu P, Vasquez L, Tawfik D, Kolhatkar N, Coussens LM. CD4(+) T cells regulate pulmonary metastasis of mammary carcinomas by enhancing protumor properties of macrophages. *Cancer Cell*. 2009, 16(2):91-102.
- 79. Schmid MC, Avraamides CJ, Foubert P, Shaked Y, Kang SW, Kerbel RS, Varner JA. Combined blockade of integrin-alpha4beta1 plus cytokines SDF-1alpha or IL-1beta potently inhibits tumor inflammation and growth. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71(22):6965-6975.
- Saccani A, Schioppa T, Porta C, Biswas SK, Nebuloni M, Vago L, Bottazzi B, Colombo MP, Mantovani A, Sica A. p50 nuclear factor-kappaB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. *Cancer Res.* 2006, 66(23):11432-11440.
- Porta C, Rimoldi M, Raes G, Brys L, Ghezzi P, Di Liberto D, Dieli F, Ghisletti S, Natoli G, De Baetselier P, Mantovani A, Sica A. Tolerance and M2 (alternative) macrophage polarization are related processes orchestrated by p50 nuclear factor kappaB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009, 106(35):14978-14983.
- 82. Zhang F, Wang H, Wang X, Jiang G, Liu H, Zhang G, Fang R, Bu X, Cai S, Du J. TGF-beta induces M2-like macrophage polarization via SNAIL-mediated suppression of a pro-inflammatory phenotype. *Oncotarget.* 2016, 2016(13):10561.
- Kaneda MM, Cappello P, Nguyen AV, Ralainirina N, Hardamon CR, Foubert P, Schmid MC, Sun P, Mose E, Bouvet M, Lowy AM, Valasek MA, Sasik R, Novelli F, Hirsch E, Varner JA. Macrophage PI3Kgamma Drives Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Progression. *Cancer Discov.* 2016, 2016:13.
- 84. Foey A. Macrophage Polarisation: A Collaboration of Differentiation and Activation Signals as well as Monocyte Pre-Programming in Health and Disease? *J Clin Cell Immunol.* 2015(6):293.
- 85. Lewis CE, Pollard JW. Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. *Cancer Res.* 2006, 66(2):605-612.
- 86. Murdoch C, Giannoudis A, Lewis CE. Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. *Blood.* 2004, 104(8):2224-2234.
- 87. Patan S. Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis as mechanisms of vascular network formation, growth and remodeling. *J Neurooncol.* 2000, 50(1-2):1-15.
- Akino T, Hida K, Hida Y, Tsuchiya K, Freedman D, Muraki C, Ohga N, Matsuda K, Akiyama K, Harabayashi T, Shinohara N, Nonomura K, Klagsbrun M, Shindoh M. Cytogenetic abnormalities of tumor-associated endothelial cells in human malignant tumors. *Am J Pathol.* 2009, 175(6):2657-2667.
- 89. Amin DN, Hida K, Bielenberg DR, Klagsbrun M. Tumor endothelial cells express epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) but not ErbB3 and are responsive to EGF and to EGFR kinase inhibitors. *Cancer Res.* 2006, 66(4):2173-2180.
- 90. Bussolati B, Deregibus MC, Camussi G. Characterization of molecular and functional alterations of tumor endothelial cells to design anti-angiogenic strategies. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* 2010, 8(2):220-232.
- 91. Lu C, Bonome T, Li Y, Kamat AA, Han LY, Schmandt R, Coleman RL, Gershenson DM, Jaffe RB, Birrer MJ, Sood AK. Gene alterations identified by expression profiling in tumor-associated endothelial cells from invasive ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2007, 67(4):1757-1768.

- 92. Matsuda K, Ohga N, Hida Y, Muraki C, Tsuchiya K, Kurosu T, Akino T, Shih SC, Totsuka Y, Klagsbrun M, Shindoh M, Hida K. Isolated tumor endothelial cells maintain specific character during long-term culture. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2010, 394(4):947-954.
- 93. Hashizume H, Baluk P, Morikawa S, McLean JW, Thurston G, Roberge S, Jain RK, McDonald DM. Openings between defective endothelial cells explain tumor vessel leakiness. *Am J Pathol.* 2000, 156(4):1363-1380.
- 94. Pober JS, Sessa WC. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2007, 7(10):803-815.
- 95. Weis SM, Cheresh DA. Pathophysiological consequences of VEGF-induced vascular permeability. *Nature*. 2005, 437(7058):497-504.
- 96. Ghajar CM, Peinado H, Mori H, Matei IR, Evason KJ, Brazier H, Almeida D, Koller A, Hajjar KA, Stainier DY, Chen EI, Lyden D, Bissell MJ. The perivascular niche regulates breast tumour dormancy. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2013, 15(7):807-817.
- 97. Carbonell WS, Ansorge O, Sibson N, Muschel R. The vascular basement membrane as "soil" in brain metastasis. *PLoS One.* 2009, 4(6):e5857.
- 98. Kienast Y, von Baumgarten L, Fuhrmann M, Klinkert WE, Goldbrunner R, Herms J, Winkler F. Real-time imaging reveals the single steps of brain metastasis formation. *Nat Med.* 2010, 16(1):116-122.
- 99. Bresnick AR, Weber DJ, Zimmer DB. S100 proteins in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2015, 15(2):96-109.
- 100. Hiratsuka S, Watanabe A, Sakurai Y, Akashi-Takamura S, Ishibashi S, Miyake K, Shibuya M, Akira S, Aburatani H, Maru Y. The S100A8-serum amyloid A3-TLR4 paracrine cascade establishes a pre-metastatic phase. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2008, 10(11):1349-1355.
- 101. Boye K, Maelandsmo GM. S100A4 and metastasis: a small actor playing many roles. *Am J Pathol.* 2009, 176(2):528-535.
- 102. Grigorian M, Ambartsumian N, Lukanidin E. Metastasis-inducing S100A4 protein: implication in non-malignant human pathologies. *Curr Mol Med.* 2008, 8(6):492-496.
- 103. Cabezon T, Celis JE, Skibshoj I, Klingelhofer J, Grigorian M, Gromov P, Rank F, Myklebust JH, Maelandsmo GM, Lukanidin E, Ambartsumian N. Expression of S100A4 by a variety of cell types present in the tumor microenvironment of human breast cancer. *Int J Cancer.* 2007, 121(7):1433-1444.
- 104. Andersen K, Nesland JM, Holm R, Florenes VA, Fodstad O, Maelandsmo GM. Expression of S100A4 combined with reduced E-cadherin expression predicts patient outcome in malignant melanoma. *Mod Pathol.* 2004, 17(8):990-997.
- Maelandsmo GM, Florenes VA, Nguyen MT, Flatmark K, Davidson B. Different expression and clinical role of S100A4 in serous ovarian carcinoma at different anatomic sites. *Tumour Biol.* 2009, 30(1):15-25.
- 106. Li ZH, Bresnick AR. The S100A4 metastasis factor regulates cellular motility via a direct interaction with myosin-IIA. *Cancer Res.* 2006, 66(10):5173-5180.
- 107. Bjornland K, Winberg JO, Odegaard OT, Hovig E, Loennechen T, Aasen AO, Fodstad O, Maelandsmo GM. S100A4 involvement in metastasis: deregulation of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases in osteosarcoma cells transfected with an anti-S100A4 ribozyme. *Cancer Res.* 1999, 59(18):4702-4708.
- 108. Hua T, Liu S, Xin X, Cai L, Shi R, Chi S, Feng D, Wang H. S100A4 promotes endometrial cancer progress through epithelial-mesenchymal transition regulation. *Oncol Rep.* 2016, 35(6):3419-3426.
- 109. Schmidt-Hansen B, Ornas D, Grigorian M, Klingelhofer J, Tulchinsky E, Lukanidin E, Ambartsumian N. Extracellular S100A4(mts1) stimulates invasive growth of mouse

62

endothelial cells and modulates MMP-13 matrix metalloproteinase activity. *Oncogene*. 2004, 23(32):5487-5495.

- 110. Li ZH, Dulyaninova NG, House RP, Almo SC, Bresnick AR. S100A4 regulates macrophage chemotaxis. *Mol Biol Cell*. 2010, 21(15):2598-2610.
- 111. Hansen MT, Forst B, Cremers N, Quagliata L, Ambartsumian N, Grum-Schwensen B, Klingelhofer J, Abdul-Al A, Herrmann P, Osterland M, Stein U, Nielsen GH, Scherer PE, Lukanidin E, Sleeman JP, Grigorian M. A link between inflammation and metastasis: serum amyloid A1 and A3 induce metastasis, and are targets of metastasis-inducing S100A4. *Oncogene.* 2015, 34(4):424-435.
- 112. Smith MP, Sanchez-Laorden B, O'Brien K, Brunton H, Ferguson J, Young H, Dhomen N, Flaherty KT, Frederick DT, Cooper ZA, Wargo JA, Marais R, Wellbrock C. The immune microenvironment confers resistance to MAPK pathway inhibitors through macrophage-derived TNFalpha. *Cancer Discov.* 2014, 4(10):1214-1229.
- 113. Hirata E, Girotti MR, Viros A, Hooper S, Spencer-Dene B, Matsuda M, Larkin J, Marais R, Sahai E. Intravital imaging reveals how BRAF inhibition generates drug-tolerant microenvironments with high integrin beta1/FAK signaling. *Cancer Cell.* 2015, 27(4):574-588.
- 114. Gupta VK, Jaskowiak NT, Beckett MA, Mauceri HJ, Grunstein J, Johnson RS, Calvin DA, Nodzenski E, Pejovic M, Kufe DW, Posner MC, Weichselbaum RR. Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances endothelial cell survival and tumor radioresistance. *Cancer J.* 2002, 8(1):47-54.
- 115. Grigorieva I, Thomas X, Epstein J. The bone marrow stromal environment is a major factor in myeloma cell resistance to dexamethasone. *Exp Hematol.* 1998, 26(7):597-603.
- 116. Weekes CD, Song D, Arcaroli J, Wilson LA, Rubio-Viqueira B, Cusatis G, Garrett-Mayer E, Messersmith WA, Winn RA, Hidalgo M. Stromal cell-derived factor 1alpha mediates resistance to mTOR-directed therapy in pancreatic cancer. *Neoplasia*. 2012, 14(8):690-701.
- 117. Straussman R, Morikawa T, Shee K, Barzily-Rokni M, Qian ZR, Du J, Davis A, Mongare MM, Gould J, Frederick DT, Cooper ZA, Chapman PB, Solit DB, Ribas A, Lo RS, Flaherty KT, Ogino S, Wargo JA, Golub TR. Tumour micro-environment elicits innate resistance to RAF inhibitors through HGF secretion. *Nature*. 2012, 487(7408):500-504.
- 118. Wang W, Li Q, Yamada T, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto I, Oda M, Watanabe G, Kayano Y, Nishioka Y, Sone S, Yano S. Crosstalk to stromal fibroblasts induces resistance of lung cancer to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009, 15(21):6630-6638.
- 119. Nair MG, Desai K, Prabhu JS, Hari PS, Remacle J, Sridhar TS. beta3 integrin promotes chemoresistance to epirubicin in MDA-MB-231 through repression of the pro-apoptotic protein, BAD. *Exp Cell Res.* 2016, 346(1):137-145.
- 120. Guan J, Zhang H, Wen Z, Gu Y, Cheng Y, Sun Y, Zhang T, Jia C, Lu Z, Chen J. Retinoic acid inhibits pancreatic cancer cell migration and EMT through the downregulation of IL-6 in cancer associated fibroblast cells. *Cancer Lett.* 2014, 345(1):132-139.
- 121. Shintani Y, Fujiwara A, Kimura T, Kawamura T, Funaki S, Minami M, Okumura M. IL-6 Secreted from Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Mediates Chemoresistance in NSCLC by Increasing Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Signaling. *J Thorac Oncol.* 2016, 0864(16):30500-30507.
- 122. Choe C, Shin YS, Kim C, Choi SJ, Lee J, Kim SY, Cho YB, Kim J. Crosstalk with cancer-associated fibroblasts induces resistance of non-small cell lung cancer cells to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition. *Onco Targets Ther.* 2015, 8:3665-3678.
- 123. Voulgari A, Pintzas A. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer metastasis: mechanisms, markers and strategies to overcome drug resistance in the clinic. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2009, 1796(2):75-90.

- 124. Liotta LA. Adhere, Degrade, and Move: The Three-Step Model of Invasion. *Cancer Res.* 2016, 76(11):3115-3117.
- 125. Quail DF, Bowman RL, Akkari L, Quick ML, Schuhmacher AJ, Huse JT, Holland EC, Sutton JC, Joyce JA. The tumor microenvironment underlies acquired resistance to CSF-1R inhibition in gliomas. *Science*. 2016, 352(6288):aad3018.
- 126. Patnana M, Bronstein Y, Szklaruk J, Bedi DG, Hwu WJ, Gershenwald JE, Prieto VG, Ng CS. Multimethod imaging, staging, and spectrum of manifestations of metastatic melanoma. *Clin Radiol.* 2011, 66(3):224-236.
- 127. Giblin AV, Thomas JM. Incidence, mortality and survival in cutaneous melanoma. *J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg.* 2007, 60(1):32-40.
- 128. Garbe C, Eigentler TK, Keilholz U, Hauschild A, Kirkwood JM. Systematic review of medical treatment in melanoma: current status and future prospects. *Oncologist.* 2011, 16(1):5-24.
- 129. Marks R. Epidemiology of melanoma. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* 2000, 25(6):459-463.
- 130. Garbe C, Leiter U. Melanoma epidemiology and trends. *Clin Dermatol.* 2009, 27(1):3-9.
- 131. Cummins DL, Cummins JM, Pantle H, Silverman MA, Leonard AL, Chanmugam A. Cutaneous malignant melanoma. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2006, 81(4):500-507.
- 132. Markovic SN, Erickson LA, Rao RD, Weenig RH, Pockaj BA, Bardia A, Vachon CM, Schild SE, McWilliams RR, Hand JL, Laman SD, Kottschade LA, Maples WJ, Pittelkow MR, Pulido JS, Cameron JD, Creagan ET. Malignant melanoma in the 21st century, part 1: epidemiology, risk factors, screening, prevention, and diagnosis. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2007, 82(3):364-380.
- 133. Garibyan L, Fisher DE. How sunlight causes melanoma. *Curr Oncol Rep.* 2010, 12(5):319-326.
- 134. Soura E, Eliades PJ, Shannon K, Stratigos AJ, Tsao H. Hereditary melanoma: Update on syndromes and management: Genetics of familial atypical multiple mole melanoma syndrome. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 2016, 74(3):395-407; quiz 408-310.
- 135. Garbe C, Buttner P, Weiss J, Soyer HP, Stocker U, Kruger S, Roser M, Weckbecker J, Panizzon R, Bahmer F, et al. Associated factors in the prevalence of more than 50 common melanocytic nevi, atypical melanocytic nevi, and actinic lentigines: multicenter case-control study of the Central Malignant Melanoma Registry of the German Dermatological Society. *J Invest Dermatol.* 1994, 102(5):700-705.
- 136. Halpern AC, Guerry Dt, Elder DE, Trock B, Synnestvedt M. A cohort study of melanoma in patients with dysplastic nevi. *J Invest Dermatol.* 1993, 100(3):346S-349S.
- 137. Tsai S, Balch C, Lange J. Epidemiology and treatment of melanoma in elderly patients. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* 2010, 7(3):148-152.
- 138. Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, Pasquini P, Zanetti R, Masini C, Boyle P, Melchi CF. Metaanalysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: III. Family history, actinic damage and phenotypic factors. *Eur J Cancer.* 2005, 41(14):2040-2059.
- 139. Miller AJ, Mihm MC, Jr. Melanoma. *N Engl J Med*. 2006, 355(1):51-65.
- 140. Haass NK, Smalley KS, Herlyn M. The role of altered cell-cell communication in melanoma progression. *J Mol Histol.* 2004, 35(3):309-318.
- 141. Haass NK, Smalley KS, Li L, Herlyn M. Adhesion, migration and communication in melanocytes and melanoma. *Pigment Cell Res.* 2005, 18(3):150-159.
- 142. Denat L, Kadekaro AL, Marrot L, Leachman SA, Abdel-Malek ZA. Melanocytes as instigators and victims of oxidative stress. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2014, 134(6):1512-1518.
- 143. Pizzichetta MA, Talamini R, Stanganelli I, Puddu P, Bono R, Argenziano G, Veronesi A, Trevisan G, Rabinovitz H, Soyer HP. Amelanotic/hypomelanotic melanoma: clinical and dermoscopic features. *Br J Dermatol.* 2004, 150(6):1117-1124.
- 144. Zaidi MR, Day CP, Merlino G. From UVs to metastases: modeling melanoma initiation and progression in the mouse. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2008, 128(10):2381-2391.

- 145. Hsu MY, Meier FE, Nesbit M, Hsu JY, Van Belle P, Elder DE, Herlyn M. E-cadherin expression in melanoma cells restores keratinocyte-mediated growth control and down-regulates expression of invasion-related adhesion receptors. *Am J Pathol.* 2000, 156(5):1515-1525.
- 146. Li G, Satyamoorthy K, Herlyn M. Dynamics of cell interactions and communications during melanoma development. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med.* 2002, 13(1):62-70.
- 147. Li G, Schaider H, Satyamoorthy K, Hanakawa Y, Hashimoto K, Herlyn M. Downregulation of Ecadherin and Desmoglein 1 by autocrine hepatocyte growth factor during melanoma development. *Oncogene.* 2001, 20(56):8125-8135.
- 148. Hsu MY, Wheelock MJ, Johnson KR, Herlyn M. Shifts in cadherin profiles between human normal melanocytes and melanomas. *J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc.* 1996, 1(2):188-194.
- 149. Baronas-Lowell D, Lauer-Fields JL, Borgia JA, Sferrazza GF, Al-Ghoul M, Minond D, Fields GB. Differential modulation of human melanoma cell metalloproteinase expression by alpha2beta1 integrin and CD44 triple-helical ligands derived from type IV collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 2004, 279(42):43503-43513.
- 150. Siret C, Terciolo C, Dobric A, Habib MC, Germain S, Bonnier R, Lombardo D, Rigot V, Andre F. Interplay between cadherins and alpha2beta1 integrin differentially regulates melanoma cell invasion. *Br J Cancer.* 2015, 113(10):1445-1453.
- 151. Li G, Satyamoorthy K, Herlyn M. N-cadherin-mediated intercellular interactions promote survival and migration of melanoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 2001, 61(9):3819-3825.
- 152. Derycke LD, Bracke ME. N-cadherin in the spotlight of cell-cell adhesion, differentiation, embryogenesis, invasion and signalling. *Int J Dev Biol.* 2004, 48(5-6):463-476.
- Li G, Satyamoorthy K, Meier F, Berking C, Bogenrieder T, Herlyn M. Function and regulation of melanoma-stromal fibroblast interactions: when seeds meet soil. *Oncogene.* 2003, 22(20):3162-3171.
- 154. Lazar-Molnar E, Hegyesi H, Toth S, Falus A. Autocrine and paracrine regulation by cytokines and growth factors in melanoma. *Cytokine*. 2000, 12(6):547-554.
- 155. Cantelli G, Orgaz JL, Rodriguez-Hernandez I, Karagiannis P, Maiques O, Matias-Guiu X, Nestle FO, Marti RM, Karagiannis SN, Sanz-Moreno V. TGF-beta-Induced Transcription Sustains Amoeboid Melanoma Migration and Dissemination. *Curr Biol.* 2015, 25(22):2899-2914.
- 156. Das S, Sarrou E, Podgrabinska S, Cassella M, Mungamuri SK, Feirt N, Gordon R, Nagi CS, Wang Y, Entenberg D, Condeelis J, Skobe M. Tumor cell entry into the lymph node is controlled by CCL1 chemokine expressed by lymph node lymphatic sinuses. *J Exp Med.* 2013, 210(8):1509-1528.
- 157. Schietroma C, Cianfarani F, Lacal PM, Odorisio T, Orecchia A, Kanitakis J, D'Atri S, Failla CM, Zambruno G. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression correlates with lymph node localization of human melanoma metastases. *Cancer.* 2003, 98(4):789-797.
- 158. Hoek KS, Schlegel NC, Brafford P, Sucker A, Ugurel S, Kumar R, Weber BL, Nathanson KL, Phillips DJ, Herlyn M, Schadendorf D, Dummer R. Metastatic potential of melanomas defined by specific gene expression profiles with no BRAF signature. *Pigment Cell Res.* 2006, 19(4):290-302.
- 159. Hoek KS, Eichhoff OM, Schlegel NC, Dobbeling U, Kobert N, Schaerer L, Hemmi S, Dummer R. In vivo switching of human melanoma cells between proliferative and invasive states. *Cancer Res.* 2008, 68(3):650-656.
- 160. Pinner S, Jordan P, Sharrock K, Bazley L, Collinson L, Marais R, Bonvin E, Goding C, Sahai E. Intravital imaging reveals transient changes in pigment production and Brn2 expression during metastatic melanoma dissemination. *Cancer Res.* 2009, 69(20):7969-7977.
- 161. Nygaard V, Prasmickaite L, Vasiliauskaite K, Clancy T, Hovig E. Melanoma brain colonization involves the emergence of a brain-adaptive phenotype. *Oncoscience*. 2014, 1(1):82-94.

- 162. Hoek KS, Goding CR. Cancer stem cells versus phenotype-switching in melanoma. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* 2010, 23(6):746-759.
- 163. O'Connell MP, Marchbank K, Webster MR, Valiga AA, Kaur A, Vultur A, Li L, Herlyn M, Villanueva J, Liu Q, Yin X, Widura S, Nelson J, Ruiz N, Camilli TC, Indig FE, Flaherty KT, Wargo JA, Frederick DT, Cooper ZA, Nair S, Amaravadi RK, Schuchter LM, Karakousis GC, Xu W, Xu X, Weeraratna AT. Hypoxia induces phenotypic plasticity and therapy resistance in melanoma via the tyrosine kinase receptors ROR1 and ROR2. *Cancer Discov.* 2013, 3(12):1378-1393.
- 164. Landsberg J, Kohlmeyer J, Renn M, Bald T, Rogava M, Cron M, Fatho M, Lennerz V, Wolfel T, Holzel M, Tuting T. Melanomas resist T-cell therapy through inflammation-induced reversible dedifferentiation. *Nature*. 2012, 490(7420):412-416.
- 165. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, Bignell GR, Bolli N, Borg A, Borresen-Dale AL, Boyault S, Burkhardt B, Butler AP, Caldas C, Davies HR, Desmedt C, Eils R, Eyfjord JE, Foekens JA, Greaves M, Hosoda F, Hutter B, Ilicic T, Imbeaud S, Imielinski M, Jager N, Jones DT, Jones D, Knappskog S, Kool M, Lakhani SR, Lopez-Otin C, Martin S, Munshi NC, Nakamura H, Northcott PA, Pajic M, Papaemmanuil E, Paradiso A, Pearson JV, Puente XS, Raine K, Ramakrishna M, Richardson AL, Richter J, Rosenstiel P, Schlesner M, Schumacher TN, Span PN, Teague JW, Totoki Y, Tutt AN, Valdes-Mas R, van Buuren MM, van 't Veer L, Vincent-Salomon A, Waddell N, Yates LR, Zucman-Rossi J, Futreal PA, McDermott U, Lichter P, Meyerson M, Grimmond SM, Siebert R, Campo E, Shibata T, Pfister SM, Campbell PJ, Stratton MR. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. 2013, 500(7463):415-421.
- 166. Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA, Jr., Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science*. 2013, 339(6127):1546-1558.
- 167. Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C, Dicara D, Ramos AH, Lawrence MS, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Voet D, Saksena G, Stransky N, Onofrio RC, Winckler W, Ardlie K, Wagle N, Wargo J, Chong K, Morton DL, Stemke-Hale K, Chen G, Noble M, Meyerson M, Ladbury JE, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Wagner SN, Hoon DS, Schadendorf D, Lander ES, Gabriel SB, Getz G, Garraway LA, Chin L. A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. *Cell.* 2012, 150(2):251-263.
- 168. Zhang T, Dutton-Regester K, Brown KM, Hayward NK. The genomic landscape of cutaneous melanoma. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* 2016, 29(3):266-283.
- 169. Edwards RH, Ward MR, Wu H, Medina CA, Brose MS, Volpe P, Nussen-Lee S, Haupt HM, Martin AM, Herlyn M, Lessin SR, Weber BL. Absence of BRAF mutations in UV-protected mucosal melanomas. *J Med Genet.* 2004, 41(4):270-272.
- 170. Cantwell-Dorris ER, O'Leary JJ, Sheils OM. BRAFV600E: implications for carcinogenesis and molecular therapy. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2011, 10(3):385-394.
- 171. Seger R, Krebs EG. The MAPK signaling cascade. Faseb J. 1995, 9(9):726-735.
- 172. Fedorenko IV, Paraiso KH, Smalley KS. Acquired and intrinsic BRAF inhibitor resistance in BRAF V600E mutant melanoma. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2011, 82(3):201-209.
- 173. Patton EE, Widlund HR, Kutok JL, Kopani KR, Amatruda JF, Murphey RD, Berghmans S, Mayhall EA, Traver D, Fletcher CD, Aster JC, Granter SR, Look AT, Lee C, Fisher DE, Zon LI. BRAF mutations are sufficient to promote nevi formation and cooperate with p53 in the genesis of melanoma. *Curr Biol.* 2005, 15(3):249-254.
- 174. Damsky W, Micevic G, Meeth K, Muthusamy V, Curley DP, Santhanakrishnan M, Erdelyi I, Platt JT, Huang L, Theodosakis N, Zaidi MR, Tighe S, Davies MA, Dankort D, McMahon M, Merlino G, Bardeesy N, Bosenberg M. mTORC1 activation blocks BrafV600E-induced growth arrest but is insufficient for melanoma formation. *Cancer Cell*. 2015, 27(1):41-56.
- 175. Delmas V, Beermann F, Martinozzi S, Carreira S, Ackermann J, Kumasaka M, Denat L, Goodall J, Luciani F, Viros A, Demirkan N, Bastian BC, Goding CR, Larue L. Beta-catenin induces

immortalization of melanocytes by suppressing p16INK4a expression and cooperates with N-Ras in melanoma development. *Genes Dev.* 2007, 21(22):2923-2935.

- 176. Velho TR. Metastatic melanoma a review of current and future drugs. *Drugs Context.* 2012, 2012(212242):212242.
- 177. Hill GJ, 2nd, Krementz ET, Hill HZ. Dimethyl triazeno imidazole carboxamide and combination therapy for melanoma. IV. Late results after complete response to chemotherapy (Central Oncology Group protocols 7130, 7131, and 7131A). *Cancer.* 1984, 53(6):1299-1305.
- 178. Flaherty KT, Puzanov I, Kim KB, Ribas A, McArthur GA, Sosman JA, O'Dwyer PJ, Lee RJ, Grippo JF, Nolop K, Chapman PB. Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2010, 363(9):809-819.
- 179. Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, Haanen JB, Ascierto P, Larkin J, Dummer R, Garbe C, Testori A, Maio M, Hogg D, Lorigan P, Lebbe C, Jouary T, Schadendorf D, Ribas A, O'Day SJ, Sosman JA, Kirkwood JM, Eggermont AM, Dreno B, Nolop K, Li J, Nelson B, Hou J, Lee RJ, Flaherty KT, McArthur GA. Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. *N Engl J Med.* 2011, 364(26):2507-2516.
- 180. Tsai J, Lee JT, Wang W, Zhang J, Cho H, Mamo S, Bremer R, Gillette S, Kong J, Haass NK, Sproesser K, Li L, Smalley KS, Fong D, Zhu YL, Marimuthu A, Nguyen H, Lam B, Liu J, Cheung I, Rice J, Suzuki Y, Luu C, Settachatgul C, Shellooe R, Cantwell J, Kim SH, Schlessinger J, Zhang KY, West BL, Powell B, Habets G, Zhang C, Ibrahim PN, Hirth P, Artis DR, Herlyn M, Bollag G. Discovery of a selective inhibitor of oncogenic B-Raf kinase with potent antimelanoma activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2008, 105(8):3041-3046.
- 181. Tang T, Eldabaje R, Yang L. Current Status of Biological Therapies for the Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma. *Anticancer Res.* 2016, 36(7):3229-3241.
- 182. Hatzivassiliou G, Song K, Yen I, Brandhuber BJ, Anderson DJ, Alvarado R, Ludlam MJ, Stokoe D, Gloor SL, Vigers G, Morales T, Aliagas I, Liu B, Sideris S, Hoeflich KP, Jaiswal BS, Seshagiri S, Koeppen H, Belvin M, Friedman LS, Malek S. RAF inhibitors prime wild-type RAF to activate the MAPK pathway and enhance growth. *Nature*. 2010, 464(7287):431-435.
- 183. Menzies AM, Long GV, Murali R. Dabrafenib and its potential for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* 2012, 6:391-405.
- 184. Puzanov I, Burnett P, Flaherty KT. Biological challenges of BRAF inhibitor therapy. *Mol Oncol.* 2011, 5(2):116-123.
- 185. Thumar JR, Kluger HM. Ipilimumab: a promising immunotherapy for melanoma. *Oncology* (*Williston Park*). 2010, 24(14):1280-1288.
- 186. Nazareth MR, Broderick L, Simpson-Abelson MR, Kelleher RJ, Jr., Yokota SJ, Bankert RB. Characterization of human lung tumor-associated fibroblasts and their ability to modulate the activation of tumor-associated T cells. *J Immunol.* 2007, 178(9):5552-5562.
- 187. Tsushima F, Tanaka K, Otsuki N, Youngnak P, Iwai H, Omura K, Azuma M. Predominant expression of B7-H1 and its immunoregulatory roles in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* 2006, 42(3):268-274.
- 188. Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, Zheng L. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. *J Exp Med.* 2009, 206(6):1327-1337.
- 189. Ratterman M, Hallmeyer S, Richards J. Sequencing of New and Old Therapies for Metastatic Melanoma. *Curr Treat Options Oncol.* 2016, 17(10):52.
- 190. Trunzer K, Pavlick AC, Schuchter L, Gonzalez R, McArthur GA, Hutson TE, Moschos SJ, Flaherty KT, Kim KB, Weber JS, Hersey P, Long GV, Lawrence D, Ott PA, Amaravadi RK, Lewis KD, Puzanov I, Lo RS, Koehler A, Kockx M, Spleiss O, Schell-Steven A, Gilbert HN, Cockey L, Bollag G, Lee RJ, Joe AK, Sosman JA, Ribas A. Pharmacodynamic effects and mechanisms of

resistance to vemurafenib in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013, 31(14):1767-1774.

- 191. Spagnolo F, Ghiorzo P, Queirolo P. Overcoming resistance to BRAF inhibition in BRAF-mutated metastatic melanoma. *Oncotarget.* 2014, 5(21):10206-10221.
- 192. Shi H, Hugo W, Kong X, Hong A, Koya RC, Moriceau G, Chodon T, Guo R, Johnson DB, Dahlman KB, Kelley MC, Kefford RF, Chmielowski B, Glaspy JA, Sosman JA, van Baren N, Long GV, Ribas A, Lo RS. Acquired resistance and clonal evolution in melanoma during BRAF inhibitor therapy. *Cancer Discov.* 2014, 4(1):80-93.
- 193. Villanueva J, Vultur A, Lee JT, Somasundaram R, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Cipolla AK, Wubbenhorst B, Xu X, Gimotty PA, Kee D, Santiago-Walker AE, Letrero R, D'Andrea K, Pushparajan A, Hayden JE, Brown KD, Laquerre S, McArthur GA, Sosman JA, Nathanson KL, Herlyn M. Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. *Cancer Cell.* 2010, 18(6):683-695.
- 194. Poulikakos PI, Persaud Y, Janakiraman M, Kong X, Ng C, Moriceau G, Shi H, Atefi M, Titz B, Gabay MT, Salton M, Dahlman KB, Tadi M, Wargo JA, Flaherty KT, Kelley MC, Misteli T, Chapman PB, Sosman JA, Graeber TG, Ribas A, Lo RS, Rosen N, Solit DB. RAF inhibitor resistance is mediated by dimerization of aberrantly spliced BRAF(V600E). *Nature.* 2011, 480(7377):387-390.
- 195. Shi H, Moriceau G, Kong X, Lee MK, Lee H, Koya RC, Ng C, Chodon T, Scolyer RA, Dahlman KB, Sosman JA, Kefford RF, Long GV, Nelson SF, Ribas A, Lo RS. Melanoma whole-exome sequencing identifies (V600E)B-RAF amplification-mediated acquired B-RAF inhibitor resistance. *Nat Commun.* 2012, 3(724):724.
- 196. Nazarian R, Shi H, Wang Q, Kong X, Koya RC, Lee H, Chen Z, Lee MK, Attar N, Sazegar H, Chodon T, Nelson SF, McArthur G, Sosman JA, Ribas A, Lo RS. Melanomas acquire resistance to B-RAF(V600E) inhibition by RTK or N-RAS upregulation. *Nature.* 2010, 468(7326):973-977.
- 197. Johannessen CM, Boehm JS, Kim SY, Thomas SR, Wardwell L, Johnson LA, Emery CM, Stransky N, Cogdill AP, Barretina J, Caponigro G, Hieronymus H, Murray RR, Salehi-Ashtiani K, Hill DE, Vidal M, Zhao JJ, Yang X, Alkan O, Kim S, Harris JL, Wilson CJ, Myer VE, Finan PM, Root DE, Roberts TM, Golub T, Flaherty KT, Dummer R, Weber BL, Sellers WR, Schlegel R, Wargo JA, Hahn WC, Garraway LA. COT drives resistance to RAF inhibition through MAP kinase pathway reactivation. *Nature*. 2010, 468(7326):968-972.
- 198. Shi H, Kong X, Ribas A, Lo RS. Combinatorial treatments that overcome PDGFRbeta-driven resistance of melanoma cells to V600EB-RAF inhibition. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71(15):5067-5074.
- 199. Smalley KS, Lioni M, Dalla Palma M, Xiao M, Desai B, Egyhazi S, Hansson J, Wu H, King AJ, Van Belle P, Elder DE, Flaherty KT, Herlyn M, Nathanson KL. Increased cyclin D1 expression can mediate BRAF inhibitor resistance in BRAF V600E-mutated melanomas. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2008, 7(9):2876-2883.
- 200. Fung C, Pupo GM, Scolyer RA, Kefford RF, Rizos H. p16(INK) (4a) deficiency promotes DNA hyper-replication and genetic instability in melanocytes. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* 2013, 26(2):236-246.
- 201. Rane SG, Cosenza SC, Mettus RV, Reddy EP. Germ line transmission of the Cdk4(R24C) mutation facilitates tumorigenesis and escape from cellular senescence. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2002, 22(2):644-656.
- 202. Paraiso KH, Xiang Y, Rebecca VW, Abel EV, Chen YA, Munko AC, Wood E, Fedorenko IV, Sondak VK, Anderson AR, Ribas A, Palma MD, Nathanson KL, Koomen JM, Messina JL, Smalley KS. PTEN loss confers BRAF inhibitor resistance to melanoma cells through the suppression of BIM expression. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71(7):2750-2760.

- 203. Sondergaard JN, Nazarian R, Wang Q, Guo D, Hsueh T, Mok S, Sazegar H, MacConaill LE, Barretina JG, Kehoe SM, Attar N, von Euw E, Zuckerman JE, Chmielowski B, Comin-Anduix B, Koya RC, Mischel PS, Lo RS, Ribas A. Differential sensitivity of melanoma cell lines with BRAFV600E mutation to the specific Raf inhibitor PLX4032. J Transl Med. 2010, 8(39):39.
- 204. Fedorenko IV, Abel EV, Koomen JM, Fang B, Wood ER, Chen YA, Fisher KJ, Iyengar S, Dahlman KB, Wargo JA, Flaherty KT, Sosman JA, Sondak VK, Messina JL, Gibney GT, Smalley KS. Fibronectin induction abrogates the BRAF inhibitor response of BRAF V600E/PTEN-null melanoma cells. *Oncogene*. 2016, 35(10):1225-1235.
- 205. Boisvert-Adamo K, Aplin AE. B-RAF and PI-3 kinase signaling protect melanoma cells from anoikis. *Oncogene.* 2006, 25(35):4848-4856.
- 206. Shao Y, Aplin AE. Akt3-mediated resistance to apoptosis in B-RAF-targeted melanoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 2010, 70(16):6670-6681.
- 207. Muller J, Krijgsman O, Tsoi J, Robert L, Hugo W, Song C, Kong X, Possik PA, Cornelissen-Steijger PD, Geukes Foppen MH, Kemper K, Goding CR, McDermott U, Blank C, Haanen J, Graeber TG, Ribas A, Lo RS, Peeper DS. Low MITF/AXL ratio predicts early resistance to multiple targeted drugs in melanoma. *Nat Commun.* 2014, 5(5712):5712.
- 208. Konieczkowski DJ, Johannessen CM, Abudayyeh O, Kim JW, Cooper ZA, Piris A, Frederick DT, Barzily-Rokni M, Straussman R, Haq R, Fisher DE, Mesirov JP, Hahn WC, Flaherty KT, Wargo JA, Tamayo P, Garraway LA. A melanoma cell state distinction influences sensitivity to MAPK pathway inhibitors. *Cancer Discov.* 2014, 4(7):816-827.
- 209. Prasad CP, Mohapatra P, Andersson T. Therapy for BRAFi-Resistant Melanomas: Is WNT5A the Answer? *Cancers (Basel)*. 2015, 7(3):1900-1924.
- 210. Seifert H, Hirata E, Gore M, Khabra K, Messiou C, Larkin J, Sahai E. Extrinsic factors can mediate resistance to BRAF inhibition in central nervous system melanoma metastases. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* 2016, 29(1):92-100.
- 211. Sheppard KE, McArthur GA. The cell-cycle regulator CDK4: an emerging therapeutic target in melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2013, 19(19):5320-5328.
- 212. Anastas JN, Kulikauskas RM, Tamir T, Rizos H, Long GV, von Euw EM, Yang PT, Chen HW, Haydu L, Toroni RA, Lucero OM, Chien AJ, Moon RT. WNT5A enhances resistance of melanoma cells to targeted BRAF inhibitors. *J Clin Invest*. 2014, 124(7):2877-2890.
- 213. Perrot CY, Javelaud D, Mauviel A. Insights into the Transforming Growth Factor-beta Signaling Pathway in Cutaneous Melanoma. *Ann Dermatol.* 2013, 25(2):135-144.
- 214. Flaherty K, Davies MA, Grob JJ, Long GV, Nathan PD, Ribas A, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Frederick DT, Hammond MR, Jane-Valbuena J, Mu XJ, Squires M, Jaeger SA, Lane SA, Mookerjee B, Garraway LA: Genomic analysis and 3-y efficacy and safety update of COMBI-d: A phase 3 study of dabrafenib (D) + trametinib (T) vs D monotherapy in patients (pts) with unresectable or metastatic BRAF V600E/K-mutant cutaneous melanoma. In: *J Clin Oncol 34, 2016 (suppl; abstr 9502).*
- 215. Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J, Garbe C, Jouary T, Hauschild A, Grob JJ, Chiarion Sileni V, Lebbe C, Mandala M, Millward M, Arance A, Bondarenko I, Haanen JB, Hansson J, Utikal J, Ferraresi V, Kovalenko N, Mohr P, Probachai V, Schadendorf D, Nathan P, Robert C, Ribas A, DeMarini DJ, Irani JG, Casey M, Ouellet D, Martin AM, Le N, Patel K, Flaherty K. Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition versus BRAF inhibition alone in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014, 371(20):1877-1888.
- 216. Welsh SJ, Rizos H, Scolyer RA, Long GV. Resistance to combination BRAF and MEK inhibition in metastatic melanoma: Where to next? *Eur J Cancer.* 2016, 62:76-85.

- 218. Juric D, Soria JC, Sharma S, Banerji U, Azaro A, Desai J, Ringeisen FP, Kaag A, Radhakrishnan R, Hourcade-Potelleret F, Maacke H, Ahnert JR: A phase 1b dose-escalation study of BYL719 plus binimetinib (MEK162) in patients with selected advanced solid tumors. In: *J Clin Oncol 32:5s*, 2014 (suppl; abstr 9051).
- 219. Kakavand H, Wilmott JS, Menzies AM, Vilain R, Haydu LE, Yearley JH, Thompson JF, Kefford RF, Hersey P, Long GV, Scolyer RA. PD-L1 Expression and Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes Define Different Subsets of MAPK Inhibitor-Treated Melanoma Patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2015, 21(14):3140-3148.
- 220. Cooper ZA, Juneja VR, Sage PT, Frederick DT, Piris A, Mitra D, Lo JA, Hodi FS, Freeman GJ, Bosenberg MW, McMahon M, Flaherty KT, Fisher DE, Sharpe AH, Wargo JA. Response to BRAF inhibition in melanoma is enhanced when combined with immune checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2014, 2(7):643-654.
- 221. https://clinicaltrials.gov. Clinical Trials. Accessed 29'th of Sempember, 2016.
- 222. Baker BM, Chen CS. Deconstructing the third dimension: how 3D culture microenvironments alter cellular cues. *J Cell Sci.* 2012, 125(Pt 13):3015-3024.
- 223. Vinci M, Gowan S, Boxall F, Patterson L, Zimmermann M, Court W, Lomas C, Mendiola M, Hardisson D, Eccles SA. Advances in establishment and analysis of three-dimensional tumor spheroid-based functional assays for target validation and drug evaluation. *BMC Biol.* 2012, 10(29):29.
- 224. Regier MC, Alarid ET, Beebe DJ. Progress towards understanding heterotypic interactions in multi-culture models of breast cancer. *Integr Biol (Camb)*. 2016, 8(6):684-692.
- 225. Haverty PM, Lin E, Tan J, Yu Y, Lam B, Lianoglou S, Neve RM, Martin S, Settleman J, Yauch RL, Bourgon R. Reproducible pharmacogenomic profiling of cancer cell line panels. *Nature*. 2016, 533(7603):333-337.
- 226. Heng BC, Bezerra PP, Preiser PR, Law SK, Xia Y, Boey F, Venkatraman SS. Effect of cell-seeding density on the proliferation and gene expression profile of human umbilical vein endothelial cells within ex vivo culture. *Cytotherapy*. 2011, 13(5):606-617.
- 227. Prasmickaite L, Skrbo N, Hoifodt HK, Suo Z, Engebraten O, Gullestad HP, Aamdal S, Fodstad O, Maelandsmo GM. Human malignant melanoma harbours a large fraction of highly clonogenic cells that do not express markers associated with cancer stem cells. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* 2010, 23(3):449-451.
- 228. Ambartsumian N, Klingelhofer J, Grigorian M, Christensen C, Kriajevska M, Tulchinsky E, Georgiev G, Berezin V, Bock E, Rygaard J, Cao R, Cao Y, Lukanidin E. The metastasis-associated Mts1(S100A4) protein could act as an angiogenic factor. *Oncogene*. 2001, 20(34):4685-4695.
- 229. Grum-Schwensen B, Klingelhofer J, Grigorian M, Almholt K, Nielsen BS, Lukanidin E, Ambartsumian N. Lung metastasis fails in MMTV-PyMT oncomice lacking S100A4 due to a T-cell deficiency in primary tumors. *Cancer Res.* 2010, 70(3):936-947.
- 230. Serebriiskii I, Castello-Cros R, Lamb A, Golemis EA, Cukierman E. Fibroblast-derived 3D matrix differentially regulates the growth and drug-responsiveness of human cancer cells. *Matrix Biol.* 2008, 27(6):573-585.
- 231. Francia G, Cruz-Munoz W, Man S, Xu P, Kerbel RS. Mouse models of advanced spontaneous metastasis for experimental therapeutics. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2011, 11(2):135-141.
- 232. Espina V, Edmiston KH, Heiby M, Pierobon M, Sciro M, Merritt B, Banks S, Deng J, VanMeter AJ, Geho DH, Pastore L, Sennesh J, Petricoin EF, 3rd, Liotta LA. A portrait of tissue
phosphoprotein stability in the clinical tissue procurement process. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2008, 7(10):1998-2018.

- 233. Schulz KR, Danna EA, Krutzik PO, Nolan GP. Single-cell phospho-protein analysis by flow cytometry. *Curr Protoc Immunol.* 2012, Chapter 8(8):Unit 8 17 11-20.
- 234. Spitzer MH, Nolan GP. Mass Cytometry: Single Cells, Many Features. *Cell.* 2016, 165(4):780-791.
- 235. Riesenberg S, Groetchen A, Siddaway R, Bald T, Reinhardt J, Smorra D, Kohlmeyer J, Renn M, Phung B, Aymans P, Schmidt T, Hornung V, Davidson I, Goding CR, Jonsson G, Landsberg J, Tuting T, Holzel M. MITF and c-Jun antagonism interconnects melanoma dedifferentiation with pro-inflammatory cytokine responsiveness and myeloid cell recruitment. *Nat Commun.* 2015, 6(8755):8755.
- 236. Bettum IJ, Gorad SS, Barkovskaya A, Pettersen S, Moestue SA, Vasiliauskaite K, Tenstad E, Oyjord T, Risa O, Nygaard V, Maelandsmo GM, Prasmickaite L. Metabolic reprogramming supports the invasive phenotype in malignant melanoma. *Cancer Lett.* 2015, 366(1):71-83.
- 237. Kemper K, de Goeje PL, Peeper DS, van Amerongen R. Phenotype switching: tumor cell plasticity as a resistance mechanism and target for therapy. *Cancer Res.* 2014, 74(21):5937-5941.
- 238. Roesch A, Paschen A, Landsberg J, Helfrich I, Becker JC, Schadendorf D. Phenotypic tumour cell plasticity as a resistance mechanism and therapeutic target in melanoma. *Eur J Cancer.* 2016, 59:109-112.
- 239. Meng F, Speyer CL, Zhang B, Zhao Y, Chen W, Gorski DH, Miller FR, Wu G. PDGFRalpha and beta play critical roles in mediating Foxq1-driven breast cancer stemness and chemoresistance. *Cancer Res.* 2015, 75(3):584-593.
- 240. Tirosh I, Izar B, Prakadan SM, Wadsworth MH, 2nd, Treacy D, Trombetta JJ, Rotem A, Rodman C, Lian C, Murphy G, Fallahi-Sichani M, Dutton-Regester K, Lin JR, Cohen O, Shah P, Lu D, Genshaft AS, Hughes TK, Ziegler CG, Kazer SW, Gaillard A, Kolb KE, Villani AC, Johannessen CM, Andreev AY, Van Allen EM, Bertagnolli M, Sorger PK, Sullivan RJ, Flaherty KT, Frederick DT, Jane-Valbuena J, Yoon CH, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Shalek AK, Regev A, Garraway LA. Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. *Science.* 2016, 352(6282):189-196.
- 241. Salt MB, Bandyopadhyay S, McCormick F. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition rewires the molecular path to PI3K-dependent proliferation. *Cancer Discov.* 2014, 4(2):186-199.
- 242. Kong D, Wang Z, Sarkar SH, Li Y, Banerjee S, Saliganan A, Kim HR, Cher ML, Sarkar FH. Platelet-derived growth factor-D overexpression contributes to epithelial-mesenchymal transition of PC3 prostate cancer cells. *Stem Cells.* 2008, 26(6):1425-1435.
- 243. Gjerdrum C, Tiron C, Hoiby T, Stefansson I, Haugen H, Sandal T, Collett K, Li S, McCormack E, Gjertsen BT, Micklem DR, Akslen LA, Glackin C, Lorens JB. Axl is an essential epithelial-tomesenchymal transition-induced regulator of breast cancer metastasis and patient survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2010, 107(3):1124-1129.
- 244. Atkinson JM, Rank KB, Zeng Y, Capen A, Yadav V, Manro JR, Engler TA, Chedid M. Activating the Wnt/beta-Catenin Pathway for the Treatment of Melanoma--Application of LY2090314, a Novel Selective Inhibitor of Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3. *PLoS One.* 2015, 10(4):e0125028.
- 245. Webster MR, Kugel CH, 3rd, Weeraratna AT. The Wnts of change: How Wnts regulate phenotype switching in melanoma. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2015, 1856(2):244-251.
- 246. Sounni NE, Noel A. Targeting the tumor microenvironment for cancer therapy. *Clin Chem.* 2013, 59(1):85-93.
- 247. Park J, Schwarzbauer JE. Mammary epithelial cell interactions with fibronectin stimulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Oncogene*. 2014, 33(13):1649-1657.

- 248. Kaspar M, Zardi L, Neri D. Fibronectin as target for tumor therapy. *Int J Cancer.* 2006, 118(6):1331-1339.
- 249. Su S, Liu Q, Chen J, Chen F, He C, Huang D, Wu W, Lin L, Huang W, Zhang J, Cui X, Zheng F, Li H, Yao H, Su F, Song E. A positive feedback loop between mesenchymal-like cancer cells and macrophages is essential to breast cancer metastasis. *Cancer Cell*. 2014, 25(5):605-620.
- 250. Ruffell B, Coussens LM. Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. *Cancer Cell.* 2015, 27(4):462-472.
- 251. Lou Y, Diao L, Cuentas ER, Denning WL, Chen L, Fan YH, Byers LA, Wang J, Papadimitrakopoulou VA, Behrens C, Rodriguez JC, Hwu P, Wistuba, II, Heymach JV, Gibbons DL. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Is Associated with a Distinct Tumor Microenvironment Including Elevation of Inflammatory Signals and Multiple Immune Checkpoints in Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2016, 22(14):3630-3642.
- 252. Lastwika KJ, Wilson W, 3rd, Li QK, Norris J, Xu H, Ghazarian SR, Kitagawa H, Kawabata S, Taube JM, Yao S, Liu LN, Gills JJ, Dennis PA. Control of PD-L1 Expression by Oncogenic Activation of the AKT-mTOR Pathway in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2016, 76(2):227-238.
- 253. Malladi S, Macalinao DG, Jin X, He L, Basnet H, Zou Y, de Stanchina E, Massague J. Metastatic Latency and Immune Evasion through Autocrine Inhibition of WNT. *Cell.* 2016, 165(1):45-60.
- 254. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents antitumour immunity. *Nature*. 2015, 523(7559):231-235.
- 255. Alsuliman A, Colak D, Al-Harazi O, Fitwi H, Tulbah A, Al-Tweigeri T, Al-Alwan M, Ghebeh H. Bidirectional crosstalk between PD-L1 expression and epithelial to mesenchymal transition: significance in claudin-low breast cancer cells. *Mol Cancer.* 2015, 14(149):149.